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1. Introduction
dormakaba Group was formed as a business from the merger between two previously unaffiliated companies, Dorma and Kaba, on 1 September 2015.
The former Kaba Holding AG, Rümlang (Switzerland), operating as dormakaba Holding AG
since 24 October 2016, brought its group companies into dorma+kaba Holding GmbH + Co
KGaA (Ennepetal, Germany), which was henceforth jointly owned. dorma+kaba Holding GmbH
+ Co KGaA changed its name to dormakaba Holding GmbH & Co. KGaA with effect from 29
September 2016. dormakaba Holding AG owns 52.5% of this holding company and Familie
Mankel Industriebeteiligung GmbH + Co KGaA 47.5%. The acquiring company is therefore
dormakaba Holding AG (Rümlang, Switzerland). This company was renamed from Kaba Holding AG, which continues to exist in legal terms. dormakaba Holding GmbH + Co. KGaA is fully
nancial statements, which the parent company, dormakaba Holding AG, prepared as at 30 June 20161. Minority interests are shown separately as part of equity capital

is in Rümlang, Switzer-

land. dormakaba Holding AG has prepared its consolidated financial statements in CHF and in
accordance with Swiss GAAP FER to the end of the financial year that runs from 1 July 2015 to
30 June 2016. dormakaba Holding AG is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
In addition to the provisions of Swiss GAAP FER, dormakaba Holding AG voluntarily produces a
Group Management Report that meets the requirements of the Schweizer Obligationenrecht
(OR, Swiss Code of Obligations), particularly Art. 961c, and of the Deutsches Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German Commercial Code) § 315 HGB, and of Deutsche Rechnungslegungsstandard (DRS, German Accounting Standard) 20.

1

Under § 290 of the Deutsches Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German Commercial Code), dormakaba Holding GmbH + Co KGaA is
obliged to prepare consolidated financial statements, and under § 315 HGB it is obliged to prepare a Group Management Report.
However, under § 292 HGB dormakaba Holding GmbH + Co KGaA is exempt from these obligations if consolidated financial statements and a Group Management Report are produced and published at the level of the parent company in Switzerland. dormakaba
Holding GmbH + Co KG
-company financial statements were produced in accordance with the relevant provisions of HGB.
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2. Fundamental information about the Group
2.1. Business model
The merger between Dorma Group of Germany, and Kaba Group of Switzerland produced a
global company operating in the market for security and access solutions. With strong brands
such as Dorma and Kaba in its portfolio, dormakaba Group offers its customers products, solutions and services for access to buildings and rooms from a single source. The portfolio includes
locking systems from cylinders, keys and locks right through to fully networked electronic access solutions but also physical access systems and automatic door systems, as well as a
comprehensive range of door hinges and fittings, door closers and doorstoppers. These are
augmented by products for time and enterprise data recording, high-security locks, horizontal
sliding walls and movable partitions. The business is also a market leader for key blanks, keycutting machines and products for the automotive industry, such as transponder keys and programmers.
dormakaba Group is active in over 130 countries and has a presence in all relevant markets,
through production sites and/or distribution and service offices, as well as through collaborations with local partners.
Both companies have a long tradition of innovation and engineering skills. On the way to its
strategic objective of innovation leadership within the industry, dormakaba Group links
customer requirements to technological trends and continuously develops state-of-the-art
solutions that create added value for customers and users.

geographical markets and products, and are aligned to the implemented management structure.


Access Solutions AMER (AS AMER)

The AS AMER segment covers the Grou
North and South America. The AS AMER segment also has cross-segment responsibility for the
global product clusters Lodging Systems, Safe Locks and Services.


Access Solutions APAC (AS APAC)

The AS APAC segment covers business activities in the geographical markets of the Asia-Pacific region.


Access Solutions DACH (AS DACH)

The AS DACH segment includes the business activities for Access Solutions in Germany, Austria
and Switzerland. AS DACH also has cross-segment responsibility for the following global product clusters: Door Hardware, Interior Glass Systems and Entrance Systems, including the relevant production facilities and competence centers in Singapore, Suzhou (China), Melaka (Malaysia) and Sofia (Bulgaria).
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Access Solutions EMEA (AS EMEA)

The AS EMEA segment covers business activities in the geographical markets of Europe

with
as
well as activities in the Middle East and Africa. The AS EMEA segment also has cross-segment
responsibility for the global product clusters Master Key Systems and Electronic Access & Data.
This includes the associated production facilities and competence centers, in particular those in
Wetzikon and Rümlang (Switzerland), Herzogenburg and Eggenburg (Austria), and VillingenSchwennigen (Germany).


Key Systems

The globally active Key Systems segment covers the product groups of Keys, Key Cutting Machines and Automotive Solutions. Key Systems has production facilities in Vittorio Veneto (Italy), Rocky Mount (USA), Bogota (Colombia), Greater Noida (India), Wah Yuet (China) and
Eastboro Fields (UK).


Movable Walls

The Movable Walls segment covers all global activities involving space-dividing systems. Movable Walls, with its two product groups Acoustical Movable Partitions and Glass Horizontal Sliding Walls, specializes in partitioning systems. The segment has production sites in Germany,
Malaysia and the USA.
2.2. Goals and strategies
As a capital market-focused company, dormakaba Group pursues the overall objective of increasing its enterprise value on a lasting basis, i.e. across industry cycles and economic ups and
y takes into
account the interests of other stakeholder groups. Above all this includes satisfied customers

Corporate strategy is made up of six central pillars, each with its own operational goals. These
areas are:
 Providing a superior
throughout the product life cycle
 Extended presence in existing markets, vertical extension of these markets, and expansion
into new markets
 Active management of company competencies along the value chain
 Innovation leadership
 Optimized management of the portfolio of business activities and disciplined pursuit of options for corporate transactions (company acquisitions, divestments, joint ventures)
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Internal management system

dormakaba Group is led strategically by the Board of Directors. The tasks and responsibilities
of the Board of Directors are set out in the Swiss Code of Obligations. These tasks include formulating corporate strategy and monitoring the achievement of targets. The Board of Directors has 10 members, who are organized into various committees, e.g. an audit committee. As
at 30 June 2016, 30% of the Board of Directors was made up of women.
The Executive Committee is responsible for the operational management of dormakaba Group.
Its responsibilities are divided up according to, among other things, segment and Group function. Management of dormakaba Group is mainly decentralized, partly so decisions can be
made as quickly as possible, e.g. on the basis of information from local markets.
Management of the Group is based on budgetary and medium-term planning, which is formulated every year. The budget covers a period of one year, which represents the first year of a
three-year planning timeframe. This planning serves to put the corporate strategy into operational practice, and to implement the defined goals. The plans take account of how markets,
and especially segments, are developing. Forecasts about these developments form the basis
for forecasting incoming orders and thus for setting sales and earnings targets. These then allow the Group to make further plans, e.g. about human resources, investments and funding.
The operational implementation of management objectives, which are focused on the overriding goal of a sustainable increase in enterprise value, requires a management system. The same
management system is used throughout all the relevant individual companies within the Group.
This management system includes internal Group rules on compliance and risk management,
and is based on financial and non-financial key figures. The financial key figures are based on
Swiss GAAP FER rules, which are used across the whole Group.
Individual companies use a so called Management Information System software to report the
relevant information on defined dates each month, quarter, half-year and year. This information is consolidated at segment and Group level and compared to the prior year and to the
budget.
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) report each month to the
Board of Directors about the extent to which targets have been met. Monthly performance reviews are also held with the segment heads, the Chief Operating Officers (COO), where significant deviations from the budget and the previous year are discussed and any necessary
measures formulated.
The following benchmark figures have been defined in order to operationalize the targets and
manage dormakaba Group on a continuous basis:
 Sales revenues, in particular organic growth in sales
 EBITDA and EBITDA margin
Organic growth in sales is understood to mean the positive trend in sales revenues, excluding
any changes attributable to corporate transactions or currency translation effects.
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dormakaba Group defines EBITDA in the industry-standard way as operational earnings before
the cost of interest, depreciation and amortization. The EBITDA margin benchmark is expressed as the ratio in percent between EBITDA and sales. EBITDA and EBITDA margin are
both shown in the consolidated financial statements as benchmark figures.

2.4.

Basic elements of the compensation system for Board of Directors and Executive
Committee

The principles for compensating the Board of Directors and Executive Committee are set out in
the Executive Committee. The relevant regulations are published on the Internet2. The following
regulations are particularly important:
Basic principles of compensation for the Board of Directors (Article 23)
Basic principles of compensation for the Executive Committee (Article 24)
Binding vote by the General Meeting (Article 22)
Maximum additional amount of compensation for new Executive Committee members (Article 25)
 Loans (Article 28)





a)

Compensation of the Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors receive fixed compensation based on their responsibilities
and the time requirement of their function. This ensures that the Board of Directors remains
independent while exercising its supervisory duties towards the Executive Committee. The
amount of compensation for each member of the Board of Directors is determined annually on
the basis of their function. The amount is determined by market conditions and comparisons
with other listed Swiss industrial companies which operate internationally. The compensation
system is defined in a directive dated 20 October 2015.
b)

Compensation of the Executive Committee

Compensation of the Executive Com
In addition to a competitive fixed payment, the company offers a performance-related component that rewards achievement and enables members of the Executive Committee to participate in the long-term value created by the business. Overall compensation consists of the following elements:





Annual base salary
Benefits (such as retirement benefits)
Short-term bonus
Long-term variable compensation (share-based compensation)

The Compensation Report, with further details of the 2015/2016 financial year, can be found at the following web address:
https://www.dormakaba.com/resource/blob/17532/e564c76a5218ffae79e22d32c31afd9f/compensation-report-2015-2016-data.pdf
2
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To ensure consistency across the organization, all roles within the organization have been evalsation-related activities such as external benchmarking and determining compensation structure and levels.
b 1) Annual base salary
Members of the Executive Committee receive an annual base salary for fulfilling their functional role. Its size is based on the following factors:
 Content, range of responsibilities and complexity of the function
 External market value of the respective role: amount paid for comparable positions in the
industrial sector in the country where the member works
 Individual profile in terms of skill-set, experience and seniority
b 2) Benefits
The Executive Committee is international in nature, so individual members participate in the
benefit plans available in their country of employment or residence. Benefits consist mainly of
retirement, insurance and health care plans that are designed to provide a reasonable level of
protection for participants and their dependents in the event of retirement, disability, accident,
illness or death. Members of the Executive Committee are also provided with certain executive
prerequisites such as company cars or car allowances, representation allowances and other
benefits in kind according to market practices in their country of employment.
b 3) Variable compensation
 Short-term incentive
The short-term incentive is paid annually in cash. It is designed to motivate participants to
-term incentive for each member of the Executive
Com
 Long-term incentive (share-based compensation)
The purpose of long-term incentive is to give the Executive Committee an ownership interest in
dormakaba
ests with those of shareholders. Participants are awarded restricted shares and performance
share units (matching shares) of dormakaba Holding AG. Long-term incentive is divided into
two components:
a) Two-thirds is granted in the form of restricted shares subject to a three-year blocking period. This is designed to turn participants into shareholders of the company and thus
strengthen their personal interest in long-term value creation.
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b) The remaining third comes in the form of performance share units (matching shares), which
are subject to a three-year performance-related vesting period. This component is designed
ings per share over the
three-year vesting period.

2.5.

Environmental protection and sustainability reporting

dormakaba Group has included the subject of sustainability in its corporate strategy, taking account of economic, environmental and social aspects. dormakaba Group is a global group of
companies that uses a variety of processes in 35 production sites to make innovative, highquality products for different customer groups. Production processes include turning and milling, electroplating and surface finishing, painting, zinc and aluminium die casting, as well as
melting. These processes require varying amounts of energy and water, and they generate
waste and emissions.
intensive processes of electroplating and surface finishing, painting, melting and zinc and aluminium die casting. Measures are taken to reduce energy consumption, and to monitor and reduce CO2 emissions, water consumption, waste water and general waste. dormakaba Group
reports transparently and in detail on all of these topics in its Sustainability Report3.

2.6.

Research and development

ucts is a key to its sustainable, profitable growth. To make the company even more competitive
globally, dormakaba Group has increased the pace of innovation and accelerated product development and the time-to-market of new products. The aim is to invest 4-5% of planned consolidated sales in innovation and product development every year. Research and development
activities are coordinated across all segments. In financial 2015/2016, digitization was the focus
of much research and development work. The digitization of processes and products creates
opportunities for new business models.

and connectivity. For example, the company has achieved strong growth with its Mobile Access
Solutions, which allow e.g. hotel guests to open their doors with their smartphones.
-based access solution that is already available in the Swiss market: exivo
enables small and mid-sized enterprises to individually plan, configure, customize, and install
access systems with both electronic and wireless components, and dynamically assign access
rights. With this networked solution, dormakaba Group is operating as a service provider with a
forwardis breaking new ground in
digitization within the industry.

The Sustainability Report for the 2015/2016 financial year can be found at the following web address:
https://www.dormakaba.com/en/dormakaba-group/sustainability/reportings
3

dormakaba - Group Management Report and Financial Statements Group, Financial Year 2015/2016

9

dormakaba Group also wants to expand its market leadership in mechanical solutions with innovations. For example, it produces high performance, high quality products to meet the growing demand for cost-effective solutions in Asia. The products it launched in this market in the
2015/2016 financial year included door closers that incorporate slide rail technology (ITS
900/915), and a simple flexible sliding door drive with remote control (ES 68).
dormakaba Group will continue to invest substantially in the development of new and existing
products and solutions, as well as in modernizing its production facilities and developing its information technology systems.
3. Presentation of the course of business and economic position
3.1.

Macroeconomic and sector-specific conditions

According to analysis by the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the overall economic environment during the 2015/2016 financial year was characterized by moderate
growth. Uncertainty in the markets, for example in relation to economic developments in China,
impacted on the world economy. The decline in commodities prices metals and oil, for example forced countries such as Russia, Nigeria, etc. to cut government spending. At the start of
June 2016, the World Bank also reduced its growth forecast for the USA from 2.7% to 1.8%.
mistic about the global economy. Its analysts believe that global economic growth for the 2016
calendar year will come in at only 3.1%. In January 2016, the IMF was still predicting growth of
3.4% for 2016 and 3.6% for 2017. The IMF explains its more negative outlook by citing political
uncertainty and growing risks in the financial markets, especially the challenges faced by
emerging and developing countries. The BRIC states are weakening the world economy. The
IMF has seen massive capital outflows from these countries as investors turn to safer options
in industrialized countries in the wake of the financial crisis.
All these examples demonstrate the heterogeneity of the markets and give an insight into the
overall economic environment in which dormakaba Group, as a globally active group of companies, was operating during the 2015/2016 financial year. The additional information about economic developments in each of the geographical segments (see 3.3.2) illustrates how heterogeing the year under review.
In the 2015/2016 financial year, dormakaba Group operated in a market environment characterized by a growing global need for security. Four further trends also point to a positive performance in future. Prosperity is increasing globally, especially in growth markets with growing
middle classes, and this is fuelling the desire for additional protection. At the same time, average life expectancy is rising steadily, which means that institutions and private homes increasingly need barrier-free solutions that allow senior citizens to move easily from room to room.
Around the world, urbanization is creating more conurbations and more cities with over a million inhabitants, requiring ever more complex infrastructure solutions. Buildings and land have
to be secured, while flows of people have to be managed in ways that ensure optimum efficiency and convenience. Last but not least, technology influences practically every aspect of the
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access and security market, from digitization to distribution channels to the networking of

All of these factors are contributing to a growing demand for secure, intelligent access solutions. With its comprehensive service portfolio and global presence, dormakaba Group is playing a significant role in this fast-growing market.
Following the merger of Dorma and Kaba, dormakaba Group has become one of the
leading providers of access and security solutions. Measured by sales revenues, dormakaba
Group is one of the top three providers in the industry. It has a strong competitive position,
thanks in particular to the welluct portfolio and international presence. dormakaba Group actively engages with the issues of
the future, such as digitization, and introduces innovative products in the relevant target markets. dormakaba Group has comprehensive process and product expertise and is represented
locally in all relevant markets.
3.2. Course of business and position at the end of the financial year
The merger between Dorma and Kaba to form dormakaba Group in September 2015 has created a globally active group of companies. The 2015/2016 financial year was characterized in
particular by the integration of the two groups to form dormakaba Group. Integration is progressing largely according to plan. The operational business targets set for 2015/2016, e.g. revenue and sales targets, were achieved in full, and despite all the work required for the merger,
the Group generated a solid result (see 3.3.1).
The performance of the different segments varied greatly during the year under review, as detailed in chapter 3.3.2.
Operating cash flow was up on the previous year, partly because of the ongoing integration of
Dorma and Kaba, (see also 3.3.3).
The average number of full-time equivalent employees in the 2015/2016 financial year was
15,779 as a result of the merger to form dormakaba Group (previous year: 8,948 full-time
equivalent employees at Kaba Group).
Owing to the positive business performance in the 2015/2016 financial year, dormakaba
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3.3.
In order to make dormakaba
ge
the ter

4

.

3.3.1. Group earnings situation
The year under review was dominated by the merger between Dorma and Kaba (effective
1 September 2015), and the financial information as at 30 June 2016 for the newly formed
Group has significantly changed from the previous year5. dormakaba Group increased its consolidated sales by 2.6% to CHF 2,302.6 million on a pro forma basis after adjusting for currency
movements (CHF 2,115.9 million reported). Organic growth came to 2.3%, which is at the upper
end of the forecast range of 1.3% to 2.3%.
in the
previous year. On a pro forma basis, EBITDA rose by 9.6% to CHF 332.7 million (CHF 311.4 million reported). The EBITDA margin rose to 14.4% (previous year 13.5%; reported EBITDA margin
14.7%) and thus was within the target range of 14.1% to 15.1%. The increased profitability is
mainly due to the positive course of business in the AS AMER segment in North America, plus
efficiency gains and initial cost savings from the merger of Dorma and Kaba. Pro forma EBIT
for the year under review came to CHF 278.2 million, a rise of 10.4%. The EBIT margin increased
from 11.1% in the prior year to 12.1% (reported EBIT CHF 261.6 million, reported EBIT margin
12.3%).
The ordinary result rose on a pro forma basis during the year under review by 9.2% from CHF
239.9 million in the previous year to CHF 262.0 million (CHF 248.9 million reported). The extraordinary result of CHF -89.4 million (pro forma and reported) is entirely due to costs connected to the merger of Dorma and Kaba. These are made up of integration costs, impairment
charges and the costs of merging the brands into the dormakaba umbrella brand. Owing to
these one-time integration costs, pro forma earnings after tax were down on the comparable
prior-year result of CHF 186.6 million at CHF 117.2 million (CHF 104.7 million reported).
This produced a reported after-tax profit of CHF 104.7 million, which is CHF 5.8 million higher
-year result of CHF 98.9 million. Pro forma profit for the 2015/2016 financial year came to CHF 117.2 million, and for the 2014/2015 financial year to CHF 186.6 million.

and easier to interpret, additional pro forma
figures are given for key financial data as though Dorma Group was already consolidated from 1 July 2015. In addition to the formally reported figures, therefore, there are
separate pro forma figures at Group level for the period under review, and for the 2014/2015 financial year. To further aid comparisons, the pro forma figures for the previous
year were prepared using the exchange rates used for the 2015/2016 financial statements.
5
late to the 2015/2016 financial year and reflect
the economic situation of the former Dorma Group, which was consolidated from 1 September 2015 (10 months), and the former Kaba Group (12 months) in accordance with
Swiss GAAP FER.
4
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3.3.2. Earnings position by segment
The wider economic picture varied greatly between different regions and segments during the
2015/2016 financial year. The following section explains the results trend in the individual segaddition, the overall sales figure is shown, i.e. 12-months sales at the former Dorma and the
former Kaba Group.
 Access Solutions AMER (AS AMER)

The AS AMER Segment benefited from a positive economic environment in North America,
posting very good growth thanks to its attractive product portfolio, especially with Lodging
Systems. On a pro forma basis, AS AMER posted currency-adjusted organic growth of 5.4%
and increased its overall sales to CHF 514.9 million. The EBITDA margin improved from 19.3% to
20.9%. Reported overall sales for the 2015/2016 financial year came to CHF 478.0 million. The
reported EBITDA margin for the year under review was 22.0%.
 Access Solutions APAC (AS APAC)

tries covered by this segment. In the Pacific region, especially Australia, the Group benefited
from the general economic situation and reported a very good performance. By contrast, business in China suffered under challenging economic conditions. There was also a targeted withdrawal from unprofitable activities over the course of the financial year. On a pro forma basis,
AS APAC as a whole recorded sales of CHF 376.1 million (previous year CHF 377.8 million) and
improved its EBITDA margin from the previous y
the 2015/2016 financial year amounted to CHF 338.1 million. The reported EBITDA margin for
the year under review was 9.1%.
 Access Solutions DACH (AS DACH)

growth was driven by good results in Germany. Sales growth in Austria was a little better than
in the previous year, while in Switzerland there was no growth at all. The segment increased its
overall sales organically by 1.6% to CHF 790.0 million on a pro forma basis after adjusting for
currency movements (previous year CHF 777.5 million). The pro forma EBITDA margin remained about the same as a year earlier at 18.6%. Reported overall sales for the 2015/2016 financial year came to CHF 712.4 million. The reported EBITDA margin for the year under review
was 18.2%.
 Access Solutions EMEA (AS EMEA)
There was positive growth in parts of Europe during the course of the financial year, and this
impacted positively the sales in the AS EMEA segment. The Group enjoyed healthy demand
from customers in the UK and Scandinavia, and there was a gradual recovery in demand in
Southern Europe. Demand in Middle Eastern and African markets, by contrast, was very subdued owing to economic factors and the consequences of a significant drop in crude oil prices.
Eastern European demand was also down overall.
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sales organically by 3.9% to CHF 736.5 million on a pro forma basis after adjusting for currency
movements. Its EBITDA margin was 6.6%, down from 6.9% in the previous year. Reported overall sales for the 2015/2016 financial year came to CHF 677.7 million. The reported EBITDA margin for the year under review was 7.2%.
 Key Systems
In this segment, the sales figure, adjusted for acquisition effects, did not quite reach the prior
boosted by a one-off effect in the North American automotive sector. Key Systems generated
overall sales of CHF 208.5 million during the 2015/2016 financial year (previous year CHF 206.8
million) and posted an EBITDA margin of 17.1% (previous year 17.2%). Reported overall sales for
the 2015/2016 financial year came to CHF 208.5 million. The reported EBITDA margin for the
year under review was 17.1%.
 Movable Walls
Movable Walls, the new segment created in the 2015/2016 financial year, recorded good results
for its first year as a stand-alone unit. Overall sales increased organically by 3.9% on the prior
year to CHF 113.8 million on a pro forma basis after adjusting for currency movements, while
the EBITDA margin improved from 9.0% to 11.5%. Reported overall sales for the 2015/2016 financial year came to CHF 95.6 million. The reported EBITDA margin for the year under review
was 11.7%.
The following overview table shows the key earnings figures on a pro forma basis for 2015/2016
and 2014/2015, as well as the reported financial data for the 2015/2016:
AS AMER
1

in CHF million
Total sales4
EBITDA
in % sales

in CHF million
Total sales4
EBITDA
in % sales

2

AS APAC
3

1

2

AS DACH
3

1

2

AS EMEA
3

1

FY 15/16 FY 14/15 FY 15/16 FY 15/16 FY 14/15 FY 15/16 FY 15/16 FY 14/15 FY 15/16 FY 15/16 FY 14/15 2 FY 15/16 3
(Pro
(Pro
(repor(Pro
(Pro
(repor(Pro
(Pro
(repor(Pro
(Pro
(reporforma)
forma)
ted)
forma)
forma)
ted)
forma)
forma)
ted)
forma)
forma)
ted)
514.9
488.0
478.0
376.1
377.8
338.1
790.0
777.5
712.4
736.5
708.7
677.7
107.5
94.3
105.3
36.2
33.0
30.9
146.7
144.3
129.8
48.4
48.7
48.9
20.9
19.3
22.0
9.6
8.7
9.1
18.6
18.6
18.2
6.6
6.9
7.2
Group
5
6
7
Access Solutions total
Key Systems
Movable Walls
(after eliminations)
FY 15/16 1 FY 14/15 2 FY 15/16 3 FY 15/16 1 FY 14/15 2 FY 15/16 3 FY 15/16 1 FY 14/15 2 FY 15/16 3 FY 15/16 1 FY 14/15 2 FY 15/16 3
(Pro
(Pro
(repor(Pro
(Pro
(repor(Pro
(Pro
(repor(Pro
(Pro
(reporforma)
forma)
ted)
forma)
forma)
ted)
forma)
forma)
ted)
forma)
forma)
ted)
1985.4
1933.7
1815.2
208.5
206.8
208.5
113.8
109.5
95.6
2302.6
2244.7
2115.9
338.7
320.4
314.9
35.7
35.5
35.7
13.1
9.8
11.2
332.7
303.6
311.4
17.1
16.6
17.3
17.1
17.2
17.1
11.5
9.0
11.7
14.4
13.5
14.7

Former Dorma Group and former Kaba Group, both 12 months
Former Dorma Group and former Kaba Group, both 12 months at June 2016 exchange rates
3
Former Dorma Group consolidated since 1 September 2015 (10 months) and former Kaba Group (12 months)
4
Incl. intercompany sales
5
Intercompany sales between Access Solutions segments excluded; intercompany sales with non-Access Solutions segments included
6
Former Dorma Group was not active in the Key System Segment
7
Former Kaba Group was not active in the Movable Walls Segment
1

2
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3.3.3. Financial and asset position
dormakaba Group has a very solid balance sheet structure. Total assets as at the balance
sheet date of 30 June 2016 came to CHF 1,579.3 million. The rise in total assets compared with
the previous year is mainly due to the merger between Dorma and Kaba.
On the assets side, the proportion of current assets at 30 June 2016 was down from the prior
-current assets was up to 32.3% (previous
year 27.5%). As at 30 June 2016, the main elements here were investments in associated companies of CHF 33.9 million, non-current financial assets of CHF 36.5 million and deferred income tax assets of CHF 71.5 million.
In the 2015/2016 financial year, investments in property, plant and equipment of CHF 47.1 million and investments in intangible assets of CHF 14.7 million were made to secure the business
activities of the newly formed Group.
The merger led to a net inflow into the Group of cash and cash equivalents amounting to
CHF 64.4 million.
On the liabilities side, the proportion of current liabilities rose to 37.9% (previous year 32.5%),
and of non-current liabilities to 18.9% (previous year 7.3%) of the balance sheet total, mainly
because of employee pension liabilities (pension provisions) (CHF 275.0 million).
Equity, including minorities, as a proportion of the balance sheet total came to 43.2% (previous
year 60.2%). In accordance with Swiss GAAP FER, goodwill from acquisitions is charged directly
to equity. If the goodwill reported in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements was capitalized and written off regularly, the equity ratio would come to 63.7% (previous year 65.6%).
Dividend to shareholders came to CHF 240.7 million during the year under review, with a special
dividend of CHF 50.00 per share paid out alongside the ordinary dividend of CHF 12.00 per
share paid by the former Kaba from the 2014/2015 profit.
Following substantial negative currency effects in the previous year (CHF -22.0 million on an
overall balance of CHF -33.7 million from exchange rate differences), the year under review saw
positive currency changes of CHF 17.9 million. In relation to minority interests, the corresponding amounts came to CHF -0.2 million in the previous year, and CHF 8.4 million in the year under review.
Cash generated from operations in financial year 2015/2016 came to CHF 327.6 million, and
free cash flow (net cash from operating activities plus cash flow from investing activities) to
CHF 268.8 million.
Net cash from operating activities was very high at CHF 255.3 million (previous year CHF 104.3
million). The outflow of funds caused by restructuring provisions will, however, lead to a reduction in this figure in subsequent years.
Cash flow from investing activities came to a net CHF 13.5 million, which includes gross investments of CHF 61.8 million.
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Cash flow from financing activities amounted to CHF -213.2 million and essentially comprises
the above-mentioned dividend payments of CHF 240.7 million.
Cash and cash equivalents rose to CHF 213.2 million during the year under review (previous
year: CHF 142.5 million). Current and non-current borrowings amounted to CHF 54.1 million.
In March 2016, a CHF 500 million credit facility with a maturity of five years was agreed with a
consortium of banks. The options to extend the maturity by 2 years and to increase the facility
by another CHF 200 million gives the Group a long-term basis for financing further growth.

3.4.

Non-financial performance indicators

dormakaba Group continuously tracks several non-financial performance indicators, including
the following:
 Customers and products
-quality products. Product
quality and customer satisfaction are, therefore, crucial and must remain a focus at all stages
of the value chain. Customer satisfaction is measured regularly through customer dialog as
well as through online surveys. Customer satisfaction is trending upwards, especially following
the merger between Dorma and Kaba.
 Human Resources
Employees are the driving force behind the success of dormakaba Group. With their expertise
to life. With employees being so crucial to its success, the company strives to create a working
environment in which they can flourish according to their individual strengths. In addition to
providing a wide range of training and development programs, dormakaba Group is constantly
working to understand more about employee satisfaction, especially during the change process
associated with the ongoing merger. During the year under review, for example, two surveys of
around 2,000 employees were carried out, as well as standardized interviews with individual
employees from all areas

 Compliance and human rights
When conducting its business, it is essential for the Group to comply with local laws and internal company rules at every one of its locations. This applies to internal processes as well as to
relations with external partners, including customers, the authorities and suppliers. In order to
live up to its responsibilities in these areas, dormakaba Group has developed measures and processes to ensure its responsibilities are met and to prevent abuse. These measures and processes are continuously developed and improved. The company sets binding rules in its
Group-wide Code of Conduct, as well as in the form of directives. There were still separate
Codes of Conduct for Dorma Group and Kaba Group in the 2015/2016 financial year, but on

dormakaba - Group Management Report and Financial Statements Group, Financial Year 2015/2016

16

1 July 2016 a new Code of Conduct came into force. This was made available to employees on
an internal platform. The Code and directives form an important foundation for dormakaba
the Code of Conduct as well as in the individual topics it covers.
 Environment
dormakaba Group uses resources in the manufacture of its products, and generates waste and
emissions (see also 2.5). Environmental issues are therefore a key aspect of sustainability, and
are relevant along the whole value chain. A detailed overview of dormakaba
bility work and the most important benchmarks, including greenhouse gas emissions and eninternet.

 Supply chain
dormakaba Group pursues a comprehensive and consistent procurement policy. To ensure compliance with high standards at all times, it carries out supplier evaluations, enforces the criteria
set out in the companyis based on a detailed analysis of all expenditures, with goods and services categorized into
groups according to their characteristics. This analysis is used to identify all consumers, quantities and suppliers, and to divide these up into global, regional or local material groups.
4. Supplementary statement
On 12 December 2016, dormakaba has closed the acquisition of Mesker Openings Group. The
product portfolio in North America. Doors and all related components essential for access and
security solutions for buildings and rooms can be provided from a single source. dormakaba will
also be able to expand its distribution network and take advantage of additional sales channels
as a result of this acquisition.
Mesker employs around 400 employees and generated sales of approximately USD 67 million in
2015 (US GAAP), with an adjusted EBITDA margin of almost 20%. The purchase price is USD
142.5 million, giving an EBITDA multiple of 8.9x based on 2016E. The transaction is expected to
first day.
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5. Forecast, opportunity and risk report
5.1.

Opportunity and risk report

5.1.1 Opportunities


Opportunities arising from market position and synergy effects

The merger between Dorma and Kaba on 1 September 2015 has opened up numerous opportunities for dormakaba Group. dormakaba Group is now one of the global leaders in the fragmented market for security and access solutions, and can offer its customers high quality products, solutions and services for access to buildings and rooms from a single source. dormakaba
Group will expand its competitive position based on Dor
portfolios, combined geographical presence and optimized value chain.

The two wellthe merger. Both brands and their sub-brands are well known in the relevant customer groups
as representing high quality, innovative products. By combining the two brands, we expect opportunity to be created by their complementary strengths, firstly through the cross-selling potential, and secondly through the ability to offer customers a comprehensive product portfolio
from a single source.


Opportunities arising from industry consolidation

Opportunities also arise from the anticipated consolidation of the industry. Despite the consolidation that has already occurred, the market for security and access solutions remains highly
fragmented. The four biggest companies in the industry together account for only about 25%
of market share. dormakaba Group wants to build up its market position substantially and
thus continue to play an active role in industry consolidation. The focus for any acquisition actechnologies and/or the product portfolio, innovations and services.


Opportunities through innovation

The market for security and access solutions is in upheaval. Megatrends, such as the rising need
for security, urbanization, demographic change, technology and increasing prosperity in emerging economies, are driving the demand, but also require new technological approaches. In the
coming years, dormakaba Group plans to invest 4-5% of sales in innovation and product development in order to exploit the growth opportunities brought by these megatrends, and to
achieve its desired innovation leadership (see also the statements on research and development under 2.6).
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5.1.2 Risk policy, risk management and risks at dormakaba Group


Risk policy

dormakaba Group is a globally active business. All its business activities are conducted with the
aim of securing economic success. However, these activities can also bring risks. The overriding
l of dormakaba Group, to
6
achieve sustainable growth and thus to increase shareholder value . Opportunities are thereearly, actively monitored and reassessed on a continuous basis.
dormakaba Group always takes strategic and operational decisions on the basis of a systematic analysis and evaluation of the opportunities and risks relating to its asset, financial and
earnings position. It never enters into incalculable, unreasonably high or existential risks.

events, developments or active operations to achieve or exceed planned quantitative and qualitative objectives. Risks, as understood in dormakaba Gro
planned economic success. In addition to direct, quantitatively measurable risks, qualitative
risk, such as reputational risk, are also taken into account.


Risk management
shareholder value (see also

2.2
ties and risks should be identified at an early stage and actively controlled. To do this, dormakaba Group has implemented a comprehensive risk management system.
a) Internal control system based on Group accounting
dormakaba Group has implemented an internal control system (ICS) based on the (Group) accounting7 as defined in Art. 728a of the Swiss Code of Obligations. With respect to accounting,
the ICS ensures that business activities are correctly recorded, analysed, evaluated and transmitted to the external accounts.

 A clear organizational, business, controlling and monitoring structure.
 Computer systems used for accounting are protected against unauthorized access.
 Internal regulations about the specific requirements are developed, implemented and communicated.
 The departments and persons involved in accounting meet the requirements in terms of
quantity and quality.
In the course of its business activities, dormakaba Group is exposed to the general risks inherent in any entrepreneurial operation,
and these may impede or prevent the achievement of its goals. Consequently, it is sometimes necessary to take certain calculable
and controllable risks in order to exploit the opportunities this risk-taking creates.
7
is meant consolidated Group accounting.
6
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 The ICS, as it relates to accounting, and the internal reporting system ensure and continuously check the correctness and completeness of data in the accounting system. The internal
audit department regularly conducts spot checks of the implemented processes and controls.
 The two-pairs-of-eyes principle is applied to all processes relevant to accounting, and the
separation of functions is always respected.
 The Board of Directors regularly deals with the main topics relevant to accounting, risk management, the external audit mandate and external audit priorities.
In addition, statutory and specific internal corporate guidelines and directives are used to ensure that accounting is consistent and proper. The application of clear and consistent accounting rules and a consistent consolidation software (especially for reporting from sub-areas) ensures consistent accounting throughout the Group in line with legal and statutory requirements.
b) Risk management system
On completion of the merger to form dormakaba Group, the risk management processes previously used by Dorma and Kaba were developed into a uniform risk management system for the
whole of dormakaba Group. This system was implemented and communicated to all concerned.
Risk management is integrated into the regular business and decision-making processes, codified in internal rules and regulations, and made binding on all Group companies. It includes an
impact-focused assessment of risks, implementation of appropriate risk control measures, regular review of identified risks and measures, and transparent reporting of the risk situation. Rethe Board of Directors, while the Audit Committee monitors implementation. Responsibility for
implementing and applying the risk management system rests with the Executive Committee
and with line managers throughout the hierarchy. The effectiveness and quality of the risk
manageme

Risk management distinguishes between operational and strategic risks:

that could hurt the efficiency or effectiveness of business processes, or that could compromise compliance with regulations in day-to-day business. Responsibility for identifying and
controlling these risks lies with local segment heads.
 Strategic risks are future events that may compromise the long-term development of
dormakaba Group and prevent it from reaching its strategic objectives. Reports about strategic risks from the segments and group functions are consolidated at Group level into risk
maps that show likelihood of occurrence and potential amount of damage, divided into four
evaluation categories. Strategic risks are discussed within the medium-term planning propresen
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The Group Internal Audit function has been responsible for internal audits at dormakaba Group
since the merger was completed. Internal Audit reports directly to the Audit Committee,
though in functional terms it reports to the CFO. The audit plans that Dorma Group and Kaba
Group had before the merger were retained for the 2015/2016 financial year, though an external audit firm that already worked for the former Kaba Group was brought in for support. In
December 2015, the Audit Committee approved a new audit approach that combines the
strengths of the two previous approaches.
Risks faced by dormakaba Group


Risks arising from the merger between Dorma and Kaba

The merger between Dorma and Kaba on 1 September 2015 places particular requirements on
the new company with regard to the design of its organizational and process structure, harmonization of processes, maintaining performance levels, stability of the new business model, and
the merging of business cultures. To ensure these processes are comprehensively managed with
adequate resources, an Integration Management Office was set up, led by the Chief Integration Officer whose job is to plan, control and monitor all the integration projects.


Risks arising from business transactions

The planned growth strategy is also implemented by means of acquisitions. This creates risks in
the evaluation, implementation and integration of the acquired entities. To minimize these
risks, dormakaba Group manages the acquisition projects rigorously using well-trained specialist employees and professional support from outside the Group.


Opportunities and risks arising from the business model

In recent years, the development of dormakaba
cus more on electronic and cloud-based solutions. Its products are very frequently used in security-relevant applications such as access control systems; increasingly often these are connected. dormakaba Group is therefore more exposed to the risk that hackers will gain unauassets and reputation. dormakaba
Group counters the increasing significance of such cyber-crime scenarios during the product
development process by using the latest methods to identify points that could be attacked, and
then closing these vulnerabilities in the hardware and software before new products are
launched on the market.
it is essential to dormakaba
s
and their connectivity, but also to operational processes. Sudden, disruptive developments are
not rare these days, and there is a risk that competitors could use such disruptive leaps to cresystematically observes and analyses the relevant technologies. As part of medium-term planning, targeted analysis of information relating to the state of the market and the competition
is conducted to ensure that local peculiarities are also taken into consideration.
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For dormakaba Group, as a manufacturer and supplier of high quality access solutions in the
upper market segment, the growing pressure on prices in relevant markets and specific product
areas also represents a risk. It counters this risk through the targeted development of new
products that offer customers a broader range of services, and thus help t
market position.
A significant risk in the area of product manufacturing is the possibility of a lengthy interrupcause of fire. Supplier failure and poor quality raw materials and components also constitute a
risk. Alongside the essential insurance protection, a central goal of the loss prevention programs in place at all manufacturing sites is to minimize the risk of fire. Through these programmes, the measures in place to prevent fire are regularly updated, formulated and implemented.
Manufacturing processes create the risk of air and water pollution. To minimize this risk,
dormakaba Group invests continuously in environmental protection measures. dormakaba
Group has ISO 14001 certification for nine of its sites worldwide.
As a globally active company, dormakaba Group is exposed to risks created by the political situation in individual countries and regions, which it is scarcely able to influence. dormakaba Group
carefully monitors such situations and tries to implement prompt and appropriate risk control
measures. Its top priority is always to protect its own employees.


Personnel risks

Committed employees and managers are crucial to the sustainable business success of
dormakaba Group and to the implementation of its strategy. Alongside the current integration
risks and the uncertainties these may cause for employees, the most common personnel risks
evaluated by the Group are those relating to succession planning, fluctuation and competence.
There is a risk that vacant positions cannot be filled properly, and that competent employees
could be lost. In the wake of various personnel initiatives, and with the aim of fostering longterm employee retention, these risks are addressed in the segments with the help of employee
surveys, talent and succession management, and through individual, targeted employee development. The company has also developed various change management measures aimed at
supporting employees in phases of uncertainty during the integration, and thus contributing to
the development of a new corporate culture.


IT risks

lutions are supported by IT systems. The failure of these systems and the permanent loss of data through operating or programme error, or as a result of increasingly prevalent external influences (e.g. cybercrime) represent a risk. In order to limit the ri
uses standards such as Client Security, Access and Access Control Management, Network Security Management, Network and Infrastructure Management (e.g. redundant network connections) and Data Center Management (e.g. provision of redundant data and systems).
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Legal and tax risks

As a globally active group of companies, dormakaba Group is exposed to the risk of legal disputes. These legal disputes can concern e.g. product liability, competition and antitrust law,
trademark rights or patent rights. Risks are minimized with the aid of group-wide standards.
The internal legal department and/or external lawyers are brought in for legal matters associated with specific risks. Such risks are not currently expected to have any significant effect on

As well as legal risks, international business activities can also give rise to tax risks, e.g. changes
in the law that influence transfer pricing rules within the group. Changes can have an impact
on tax costs and can lead to higher tax payments. These risks are addressed through constant
monitoring of statutory regulations by the internal tax departments, and through changes to
group-specific rules where these become necessary.


Compliance risks

The goal of dormakaba
company and its employees arising from breaches of the applicable law and internal directives.
Prevention is the priority: the implemented system prevents infringements, and employees are
trained and advised.
In wake of the merger between Dorma and Kaba, the merged company initiated a harmonization of the entire Compliance Management System rules. On 1 July 2016, a new Code of Conduct and largely harmonized Group directives and guidelines entered into force and were made
available to employees on an internal platform. To avoid any organizational gaps, transitional
regulations were and still are in place until the harmonization of the rules is complete.
Such a system can only work if employees are sensitized to the whole subject of compliance, so
dormakaba Group managers are regularly trained in the subject. The implemented compliance
mechanisms are reviewed regularly, and where necessary adjusted to changing circumstances.
Compliance risks arise as a result of a business model involving worldwide production and sales
units, a growth strategy in emerging countries and increasingly internationalized procurement.
Risks also result from the wide variety of distribution channels, from participation in tendering
processes, from the use of products in public spaces and private buildings, and from active
work within trade associations. Significant compliance risks include bribery and corruption, infringements of antitrust and competition law, fraud, preferential treatment of business partners from personal motives, violation of intellectual property protection rights, and shortages
or improper installation of products. These risks can result in financial, liability and reputational
damage.


Other risks

dor
These could be, for instance, liability risks resulting from local laws that are not known at Group
level. dormakaba Group counters these risks by keeping the quality of its products and services
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consistently high, by engaging legal experts when the risk of a legal dispute is identified, and by
taking out appropriate insurance cover. Currently no other risks have been identified that could
significantly affect the asset, financial or earnings position.


Financial risks

dormakaba Group is exposed to various financial risks on account of its international activities.
As well as the risk of default on claims, e.g. trade receivables, liquidity and credit risks, these include market price risks in particular (interest rate, currency and other price risks).
Trade receivables are settled by customers on the basis of previously agreed payment terms. In
order to minimize the risk of non-payment, a strict credit management system is applied, and
creditworthiness is checked against internal rules. Individual overdue receivables are written
down in the accounts in accordance with the relevant rules.
The financial risks incurred by entering into financial instruments are managed and monitored
centrally by the Group Treasury department on the basis of a financial directive. Significant risk
positions are reported using a standardized procedure based on currency-differentiated planning and/or average historical values. Group Treasury analyses and evaluates the risks and decides centrally whether to use hedging instruments.
Default risks are associated with financial investments, bank credit balances and positive market values of financial derivatives. These risks are countered by selecting highly creditworthy
banks and defining maximum amounts for each bank used. Counterparty risk is checked by analysing the creditworthiness of the financing partner every month. Where necessary, the
amount of business done with each partner is adjusted as appropriate.
isks. Exchange rate fluctuations cause transaction
risk on future foreign currency payments, so these risks are limited by means of a worldwide
intercompany netting system. Foreign currency risk is hedged on the basis of transactions that
are extremely likely to occur, so called anticipatory hedging relationships. The hedging instruments used are foreign exchange spot and forward transactions, plain-vanilla currency options
and non-deliverable forwards. The intra-Group loans made as part of the central financing
strategy are hedged by signing forward exchange contracts against exchange rate fluctuations. This risk hedging is not disclosed in the financial statements in the form of valuation
units, and nor is hedge accounting used in the financial statements.
Interest rate risks are managed and monitored centrally. Owing to the current interest rate environment and market expectations, no interest rate hedges were used in the 2015/2016 financial year.
The granting of financial assurances (guarantees, letters of comfort) to Group companies is
also centrally controlled by Group Treasury.

regulate OTC trade in derivatives, has imposed an audit duty. During the annual audit under

dormakaba - Group Management Report and Financial Statements Group, Financial Year 2015/2016

24

§ 20 para. 1 of the German Securities Trading Act for the audit period from 1 July 2015 to
30 June 2016, it was confirmed that dormakaba Group has an overall and in all respects appropriate and effective system for ensuring compliance with the statutory requirements.

2015/2016 financial year, dormakaba Group agreed a five-year, CHF 500 million syndicated
credit facility with a consortium of banks. The terms include standard increase and extension
options. These funds will help create further financial flexibility and help refinance dormakaba
credit facilities. dormakaba Group thus has sufficient liquidity reserves to ensure that even unexpected events do not have a significant effect on its liquidity position. Currently there is no
evidence of any liquidity risks.

5.2.

Assessment of overall risk and opportunity situation

isting risks are identified, continuously monitored through the risk management system, and
where necessary hedged using appropriate counter-measures. With the merger of Dorma and
Kaba, with the Integration Management Office specially established under the leadership of
the Chief Integration Officer to ensure a purposeful merger process, with the newly created organizational and process structure, and with the existing innovation structures and approaches, the prospects of further profitable growth for dormakaba Group remain excellent.
Beyond the actions required to merge Dorma and Kaba, there is no expectation of a significant
change in the risk situation, and certainly not a worsening of risk, compared with the previous
year. There is no sign of any risks that would endanger the continued existence of dormakaba
Group. A material deterioration in the future asset, financial and earnings position is not expected given the current risk situation.

5.3.

Future prospects (forward-looking report)

According to forecasts by the IMF and the World Bank, the world economy will grow moderately again in calendar years 2016 and 2017. The uncertainties that could presage economic
cooling are as present as they were at the start of the 2015/2016 financial year. Developments
on the financial markets, e.g. as a result of low interest rates and Brexit, could be negative; but
prospects for individual regions and countries are very mixed. Growth in BRIC states is predicted to be much lower than for some time. The markets are very volatile, as is made clear by
the increasingly negative forecasts compared with initial predictions at the beginning of 2016
published during the year by the World Bank and IMF.

litical environment remains challenging and volatile. dormakaba Group expects the economic
climate to be good in North America and largely moderate in Western Europe. Meanwhile the
situation in Asia Pacific, Eastern Europe and Latin America will remain very demanding. In addi-
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tion, dormakaba Group expects further consolidation in the access and security solutions industry in coming years, firstly because the sector is still very fragmented, and secondly because
technological advances in the industry from mechanical solutions to electro-mechanical and
web-based solutions will present some of its smaller and more local competitors with difficult
challenges.

ucts and the strength of the combined product portfolio should in future allow dormakaba
Group to grow faster than the weighted GDP of the markets relevant to the company.
For the next financial year, 2016/2017, dormakaba Group expects further organic sales growth.
This growth will be supported by the strength of the new combined portfolio, as well as by the
increasing success of innovative products such as the Mobile Access Solutions for hotels.
Thanks to higher purchase volumes, optimized infrastructure costs and efficiency gains, the
company expects annual cost synergies from the merger of CHF 60-70 million per year. These
savings should be fully effective from financial year 2018/2019.
In financial year 2016/2017, the positive effect on earnings will be offset by further integration
costs, e.g. for IT projects and the introduction of a joint umbrella brand.

18%. This objective is based on cost synergies from the merger as well as on successful implehigher profitability. Organic growth should be at least 2 percentage points above the adjusted
GDP growth of the markets relevant to dormakaba Group.
The Group also plans to relocate the production of certain standardized products, while continuing to build up sites to become powerful competence centres for product development. Synergies from the merger, allied to improved cost structures, will also mean that individual sites will
see job reductions or relocations. dormakaba Group will work with local social partners to find
the most socially acceptable solutions for the employees concerned.

sales at constant exchange rates in the 2016/2017 financial year, plus an improvement in cost
structures as a result of synergies.
The EBITDA margin in financial year 2016/2017 will be roughly the same as in the previous year,
with further integration costs, e.g. for IT and branding, expected to offset merger synergies
and the positive effects of higher sales volumes.
Segment performances will once again be mixed as a result of differing macroeconomic conditions.

5.4.

Acquisition-related information in the Group Management Report

into 4,195,026 (registered) shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each. Each share carries
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the right to one vote. Conditional capital stood at CHF 42,938.00 on 30th June 2016. According
to a resolution by the General Meeting of 20th October 2015, the Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share capital by up to CHF 41,900.00 by issuing 419,000 fully paid-up (registered) shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 per share. The capital increase can also be
made in instalments. No capital increase was carried out in the 2015/2016 financial year.

at 30th June 2016.
As at 30.06.2016
No. of shares at
CHF 0.10 par
value
Pool shareholders 1
Public shareholders
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland AG)
Other public shareholders
Total public shareholders
Members of the Board and current executives
Members of the Board (non-executive)
Current Executives
Total members of the Board and current Executives
Less double-counting in respect of Pool shareholders who
are members of the Board2
Total shares

in %

As at 30.06.2015
No. of shares at
CHF 0.10 par
value

in %

1152885

27.5

1145503

27.3

3017962
3017962

<3
71.9
71.9

127474
2900295
3027769

3.1
69.1
72.2

431452
9024
440476

10.3
0.2
10.5

51859
6556
58415

1.2
0.2
1.4

-416297
-9.9
4195026 100.0

-36661
-0.9
4195026 100.0

The following people are party to the pool agreement of 29 April 2015: Familie Mankel Industriebeteiligungs GmbH + Co.
KGaA/Ennepetal, Mankel Family Office GmbH/Ennepetal, KRM Beteiligungs GmbH/Ennepetal, Christine Mankel-Madaus/Munich,
Stephanie Brecht-Bergen/Hamburg, Karl-Rudolf Mankel/Ennepetal and Martina Bossow/Dubai (UAE), Anja Bremi/Zollikon, Ulrich
Bremi/Zollikon, Balz Dubs/Zurich, Karina Dubs-Kuenzle/Zurich, Kevin Dubs/Zurich, Linus Dubs/Zurich, Anja Flückiger/Forch, Christian Forrer/Bern, Karin Forrer/Ittigen, Anna Katharina Kuenzle/Thalwil, Clive Kuenzle/Zurich, Creed Kuenzle/Herrliberg, Michael
Kuenzle/Meilen, Alexandra Sallai/Worb, Christoph Sallai/Worb, Andrea Ullmann/Zollikon, Sascha Ullmann/Zollikon, Adrian
Weibel/Meilen and Tonia Weibel/Meilen.
2
The shareholdings of Pool Shareholders who are also members of the Board of Directors are included under Pool Shareholders and
Members of the Board (non-executive).
1

holders) have concluded a pool agreement. The pool agreement states that the anchor shareholders can elect up to five members of the Board of Directors at the General Meeting. The
agreement also states that the anchor shareholders will vote en bloc on key General Meeting
resolutions. In addition, the anchor shareholders have also granted each other the right of first
refusal if they intend to sell shares in dormakaba Holding AG. If a party wants to sell 27.0% or
more of dormakaba Holding AG voting shares, the buyer is obliged to make a public takeover
offer to all shareholders at the same price at which the anchor shareholders would sell to each
other. The pool agreement initially lasts until 29th April 2030. It will be extended for a further
five years unless a formal termination notice is served at the proper time. As of 30th June 2016,
no other pool agreements are known.
Transfers of dormakaba Holding AG shares require the approval of the Board of Directors. This
approval will not be given if the acquirer of the shares does not expressly declare that it is trading on its own account and in its own name. Private individuals who do not provide the required
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declaration will be entered in the share register separately by the Board of Directors as nomiwhich is published on the Internet8.
Contractual agreements are in place between the anchor shareholders to cover the eventuality
of a change of control at the level of dormakaba Holding AG. These agreements are described
in detail in the Corporate Governance Report. Essentially they contain rules on:



The non-existence of an obligation on the anchor shareholders to make a public takeover offer in defined cases
Agreements about the remuneration of members of the Board of Directors in the
event of a change of control at the level of dormakaba Holding AG.

6. Disclaimer
The Group Management Report contains forward-looking statements on expected developments. These statements are based on current estimates and are by their nature subject to
risks and uncertainties. Actual events may deviate from those predicted in these statements.
We cannot therefore assume any liability for the correctness and completeness of the statements or for the actual occurrence of the predicted events.
The Group Management Report is published in German and English. Only the German version is
binding.

Rümlang/Switzerland, 14 December 2016

The Corporate Governance Report can be found at the following web address: https://www.dormakaba.com/en/investor-relations/corporate-governance/corporate-governance-compensation-report
8
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Financial
statements
Group
(Annual Report, dormakaba Holding AG,
Financial Year 2015/2016)
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Consolidated income statement
in CHF million
except per share amounts

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

in %

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

in %

2,115.9

100.0

1,085.2

100.0

1,222.7

57.8

608.3

56.1

893.2

42.2

476.9

43.9

14.8

0.7

6.1

0.6

Sales and marketing

360.9

17.1

178.8

16.5

General administration

204.4

9.7

106.0

9.8

81.1

3.8

53.2

4.9

261.6

12.3

145.0

13.3

Net sales

Note

5

Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Other operating income, net

6

Research and development
Operating profit (EBIT)
Result from associates

16

2.5

0.1

0.0

0.0

Financial expenses

8

19.1

0.9

7.9

0.7

Financial income

9

3.9

0.2

0.6

0.1

248.9

11.7

137.7

12.7

89.4

4.2

0.0

0.0

159.5

7.5

137.7

12.7

54.8

2.6

38.8

3.6

Net profit

104.7

4.9

98.9

9.1

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

311.4

14.7

170.2

15.7

Net profit attributable to minority interests

50.8

0.5

Net profit attributable to the owners of the parent

53.9

98.4

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)

12.9

25.6

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF)

12.8

25.6

Ordinary result
Extraordinary result

20

Profit before taxes
Income taxes

10
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Consolidated balance sheet
Assets
in CHF million

Note

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

in %

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

in %

213.2

13.5

142.5

19.4

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

11

403.7

25.6

185.4

25.2

Inventories

12

364.0

23.0

175.8

23.9

41.4

2.6

6.3

0.9

47.4

3.0

22.3

3.1

1,069.7

67.7

532.3

72.5

Current income tax assets
Other current assets

13

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

14

330.0

20.9

155.0

21.1

Intangible assets

14

37.7

2.4

26.0

3.5

Investments in associates

16

33.9

2.1

0.0

0.0

Non-current financial assets

17

36.5

2.4

14.9

2.1

Deferred income tax assets

23

71.5

4.5

6.1

0.8

509.6

32.3

202.0

27.5

1,579.3

100.0

734.3

100.0

Total non-current assets
Total assets
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Consolidated balance sheet
Liabilities and equity
in CHF million

Note

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

in %

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

in %

52.6

3.3

19.7

2.7

120.1

7.6

58.2

7.9

47.9

3.0

13.3

1.8

Current liabilities
Current borrowings

18

Trade payables
Current income tax liabilities
Accrued and other current liabilities

19

290.2

18.4

137.8

18.8

Provisions

20

88.6

5.6

9.6

1.3

599.4

37.9

238.6

32.5

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Non-current borrowings

18

1.5

0.1

1.6

0.2

Accrued pension costs and benefits

21

275.0

17.4

38.7

5.3

Deferred income tax liabilities

23

22.9

1.4

13.3

1.8

Total non-current liabilities

299.4

18.9

53.6

7.3

Total liabilities

898.8

56.8

292.2

39.8

0.4

0.0

0.4

0.1

Additional paid-in capital

807.6

51.1

807.6

110.0

Retained earnings

347.8

22.0

330.6

45.0

1.6

0.1

4.3

0.6

15.8

0.9

33.7

4.6

Total equity owners of the parent

442.8

28.1

439.4

59.9

Minority interests

237.7

15.1

2.7

0.3

680.5

43.2

442.1

60.2

1,579.3

100.0

734.3

100.0

Equity
Share capital

Treasury stock
Translation exchange differences

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

3
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Consolidated cash flow statement

in CHF million

Note

Net profit

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

104.7

98.9

Depreciation and amortization

14

49.8

25.2

Income tax expenses

10

54.8

38.8

Interest expenses

8

9.7

6.1

Interest income

9

1.5

0.4

(Gain) Loss on disposal of fixed assets, net

0.0

0.2

Adjustment for non-cash items 1)

13.8

5.5

Change in trade receivables

7.9

12.4

Change in inventories

8.7

14.7

Change in other current assets

15.3

1.3

Change in trade payables

0.5

1.9

Change in accrued pension cost

0.7

1.2

80.4

2.9

327.6

149.1

70.2

39.0

Interest paid

3.5

6.2

Interest received

1.4

0.4

255.3

104.3

Change in accrued and other current liabilities
Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

14

47.1

26.8

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

14

4.9

0.5

4

64.4

100.0

14

14.7

12.0

6.0

4.2

13.5

142.5

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Purchase of intangible assets
Change in other non-current financial assets and prepaid transaction costs
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
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Other proceeds from (repayment of) current borrowings, net

18

29.0

22.1

Proceeds from (repayment of) non-current borrowings

18

1.6

1.4

Change in other non-current liabilities

0.1

0.1

New shares issued

0.0

176.6

240.7

41.8

213.2

111.4

15.1

11.2

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

70.7

62.0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

142.5

80.5

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

213.2

142.5

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

70.7

62.0

Net cash flows from financing activities
Translation exchange differences

1) Adjustments for non-cash items include impairments of intangible assets CHF 8.1 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment CHF 0.6 million.
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Consolidated statement
of changes in equity
in CHF million

Share
capital

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Treasury
stock

Cumul.
translation
adjustm.

Minority
interests

Total
equity

0.4

631.0

290.9

6.4

11.7

0.9

323.3

0.5

98.9

Financial year ended 30.06.2015
Balance at 30.06.2014
Net profit for the reporting period

98.4

Goodwill on acquisitions

99.0

99.0

Currency translation adjustments

22.0

Dividend paid

41.8
1.5

New shares issued

176.6

Shares awarded

22.2
41.8

Minority interest on acquisition
of subsidiary

Balance at 30.06.2015

0.2

1.5
176.6

2.7

2.1

4.8

0.4

807.6

330.6

4.3

33.7

2.7

442.1

0.4

807.6

330.6

4.3

33.7

2.7

442.1

50.8

104.7

Financial year ended 30.06.2016
Balance at 30.06.2015
Net profit for the reporting period

53.9

Goodwill on acquisitions
Fair value of Kaba business transferred

982.2

982.2

1,158.8

1,158.8

Currency translation adjustments

17.9

Dividend paid

240.7
9.3

Shares awarded

2.3

2.7

347.8

1.6

0.4

807.6

26.3
240.7

Minority interest on acquisition
of subsidiary

Balance at 30.06.2016

8.4

175.8

166.5
5.0

15.8

237.7

680.5
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Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
for financial year 2015/2016
1. General information
Description of business
Strategy
dormakaba Group is one of the leading companies in the global security and access solutions market. With its -excellent
product and solutions portfolio along the entire value-added chain, the Group provides its customers with products, solutions
and services for anything related to doors and secure access to buildings and rooms. dormakaba has distribution channels
and production
accelerate global expansion through the strengthened presence in Europe, the Americas and Asia Pacific. dormakaba is a growth-oriented company with a strong anchor
shareholder group that will ensure the long-term oriented strategy of dormakaba Group. In order to grow profitably and to
maximize the creation of value for all its stakeholders, dormakaba focuses on a clearly defined strategy with the following
elements:







Superior offering for needs along life cycle;
Expanded presence in markets and verticals;
Drive enterprise excellence along the value chain;
Lead in innovation for superior customer value;
Optimized management of the business portfolio and disciplined M & A activities;
Have the right people at the right place.

These strategic pillars are based on the two foundations of sustainability and enhancing the global brand power.
Operating model
dormakaba has divided the areas of business in which the company is globally active into six segments. Access Solutions
(AS), which comprises four segments, is structured by region: AS AMER (North and South America), AS APAC (Asia-Pacific), AS DACH (Germany, Austria, and Switzerland) and AS EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and -Africa). The two other globally focused segments are Key Systems and Movable Walls.
In
structure
and therefore all four Access Solutions segments have a dual responsibility. The global Access Solutions product portfolio is
arranged into eight global product clusters, and is assigned to specific segments along with the relevant production facilities, regardless of the geographic location (intercompany sales): Services, -Lodging Systems and Safe Locks, Door Hardware, Interior Glass Systems and Entrance Systems, and Master Key -Systems and Electronic Access & Data. These global
product clusters are complemented by local products in all Access Solutions segments.
dormakaba operates in the following businesses on a worldwide basis:







Access Solutions AMER (AS AMER):
access solutions in North and South America. AS AMER also has overall responsibility across all segments for the
global product clusters Services, Lodging Systems and Safe Locks.
Access Solutions APAC (AS APAC): This segment includes
tions in the Asia-Pacific region.
Access Solutions DACH (AS DACH): The AS DACH -segment includes the dormak
-activities
for access solutions in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland. AS DACH also has cross-segment -responsibility for
the following global product clusters: Door Hardware, Interior Glass Systems and Entrance Systems, including the
relevant production facilities and competence centers in Singapore, Suzhou (China), Melaka (Malaysia), and Sofia
(Bulgaria).
Access Solutions EMEA (AS EMEA): This segment includes
solutions in Europe (excluding DACH), the Middle East, and Africa. AS EMEA also has cross-segment responsibility for
the global product clusters Master Key Systems and Electronic Access & Data, including the associated production
facilities and competence centers, in particular in Wetzikon and Rümlang (Switzerland), Herzogenburg and Eggenburg (Austria), and Villingen-Schwenningen (Germany).
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Key Systems:
structure, Key Systems has remained as it was before the merger.
As a globally active segment Key Systems includes its established product clusters Keys, Key Cutting Machines, and Automotive Solutions.
Movable Walls: The Movable Walls segment, created in 2015, has global activities in the space-dividing systems sector. Movable Walls specializes in partitioning systems with its two product groups Acoustic Movable Partitions and Glass Horizontal Sliding Walls. It has production facilities in Germany, the U.S., and Malaysia.
Other: Operations involving contactless identification -systems and trusted services that do not fit into the basic segment
structure are included in this segment. These -systems are based on Legic SmartCard and Connect -technologies.
Offering
dormakaba stands for security, sustainability and reliability and aims to develop products, solutions, and services that make
life for its customers more simple and secure. dormakaba offers an expanded, comprehensive port-folio of products, solutions, and services for doors and -secure access solutions buildings and rooms from a single source in hotels, shops, sporting venues, airports, hospitals, in the home or at the office. The product -offering includes:






For the Access Solutions segments: The four segments AMER, APAC, DACH and EMEA include all hardware- and
software-based components, products, and solutions for access solutions as well as relevant services. The offering
includes the global product clusters Door Hardware, -Entrance Systems, Electronic Access & Data, Inte rior Glass
Systems, Lodging Systems, Master Key Systems, Safe Locks and Services, as well as local products. The multifaceted portfolio ranges from door technology solutions, automatic door systems, a wide variety of fittings, door closers and stoppers, and locking systems from cylinders, keys, and locks all the way up to fully networked electronic
access solutions for companies, public facilities, hotels, and many other applications. The range also includes physical access systems, high-security locks, glass fittings, solutions for workforce management, as well as services for
all these applications.
For the Key Systems segment: This global segment -features a high-performance range of key blanks and mechanical, electronic and (semi-)industrial key-cutting and origination machines. In addition, the portfolio also covers solutions for the automotive industry, such as vehicle keys, transponders as well as key programming devices
and duplication equipment.
For the Movable Walls segment: This global segment spe-cializes in partitioning systems with its two product
groups Acoustic Movable Partitions and Glass Horizontal Sliding Walls. Partitions are available from a manual -application to fully automatic / electronic walls.

The parent company of the Group
is dormakaba Holding AG, which is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Rümlang (Switzerland).
The address of its registered office is: Hofwisenstrasse 24, 8153 Rümlang, Switzerland.
The company is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (SIX).
2. Significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of dormakaba Group comply with Swiss law and have been prepared -using the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and in accordance with the entire existing
guidelines of Swiss GAAP FER (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles FER / FER = Fachempfehlung zur Rechnungslegung).
Furthermore, the accounting complies with the provisions of the listing rules of the SIX and the Swiss company law. The
financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF). The accounting -policies have been applied consistently by
Group companies. A summary of the significant accounting policies is provided below.
2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of dormakaba Group include the operations of dormakaba Holding AG and all direct
and indirect subsidiaries. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The consolidated
accounts are based on the annual financial statements of the individual subsid-iaries. All companies follow uniform measurement and -reporting practices prescribed by the Group. Applying the full consolidation method, the assets, liabilities,
income, and expenses of all subsidiaries are included in their entirety. Minority interests in equity and profit are disclosed
sep-arately. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is acquired. The identifiable assets and liabilities
are revalued and included according to the acquisition method. Any difference between the cost of acquisition and the fair
are of net assets acquired constitutes goodwill. Subsidiaries sold are excluded from consolidation
from the date on which control ceases. All -intercompany balances, transactions and intercompany profits are eliminated
on consolidation. Investments in -associates and joint ventures where dormakaba Group exercises significant influence, but
does not have control, normally with an interest between 20 % and 50 %, are -accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associated companies and joint ventures are initially recognized at
cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize
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investee after the date of acquisition. Profit or loss are -attributed to the owners of the parent and to the minority interests. Profit and loss are attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit -balance. Investments in which dormakaba does not have significant influence
interest is less than 20 %) are recorded at cost.
The Group treats transactions with minority interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and minority interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
2.3 Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER requires the use of estimates and assump-tions
which have an effect on the reported value of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and on the reported value of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these
best knowledge of current events and actions dormakaba Group may undertake
in the future, actual results may ulti-mately differ from those estimates. Such estimates are applied to the following balance sheet positions, among others:










Deferred tax assets are created for temporary differences provided that their utilization appears probable. The
recoverable amount is therefore based on past performance and forecasts of the corresponding taxable entity over
a period of several years. Deviations between actual and projected results can cause impairment losses. For information on carrying amounts see note 23.
dormakaba operates pension plans in various countries. The calculation of pension provisions without own assets is
based on actuarial assumptions that may differ from actual results. For information on carrying amounts see note
21.
When testing assets for impairment, the recoverable amount is determined on the basis of expected future cash
flows. The main assumptions on which these cash flows are based include growth rates and expected -useful life.
The cash flows actually generated can differ considerably from the estimates.
In the course of their ordinary operating activities, corporate subsidiaries can face claims from third parties. Provisions for pending claims are measured on the basis of the information available and a realistic estimate of the expected outflow of resources. The outcome of these proceedings may result in claims against the -corporation that
cannot be met at all or in full through provisions or insurance cover. For information on carrying amounts see note
20.
A restructuring is a program that is planned and controlled by the Management and materially changes the manner
in which that business is conducted. Restructuring provisions are created when detailed formal plans are established
and decided. Significant judgment is -required to determine the costs of restructuring plans.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF), which is dormakaba G
tation currency. Items included in the financial statements of each dormakaba Group company are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which that company operates (the functional currency).
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognized in the
income statement.
Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries reporting in currencies other than CHF are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the balance sheet date. Income, expenses, cash flows, and other movement items are translated at average exchange
rates for the period. All resulting exchange differences are recognized in equity. On consolidation, -exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign companies and from borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are taken to equity. When a foreign -operation is sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recycled to the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Significant exchange rates are in the table below: Rates in CHF for 1 foreign currency unit
Exchange rate
at 30.06.2016

Exchange rate
at 30.06.2015

Average rate
2015 / 2016

Average rate
2014 / 2015

GBP

1.317

1.469

1.454

1.490

EUR

1.089

1.037

1.087

1.133

USD

0.981

0.934

0.980

0.941

CAD

0.756

0.756

0.739

0.807

AUD

0.729

0.715

0.713

0.789

SGD

0.727

0.692

0.705

0.719

BRL

0.303

0.297

0.266

0.358

AED

0.267

0.254

0.267

0.256

CNY

0.148

0.153

0.152

0.153

HKD

0.126

0.121

0.126

0.121

NOK

0.117

0.118

0.117

0.133

SEK

0.116

0.112

0.116

0.122

INR

0.015

0.015

0.015

0.015

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes petty cash, cash at banks, and cash on -deposit. Cash equivalents include term deposits with banks and
short-term money market investments carried at market value, both with original maturity dates of three months or less.
2.6 Financial assets
Long-term held securities are recorded at fair value. All -realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the income statements.
Other non-current financial assets are stated at amortized cost less valuation adjustments.
2.7 Trade receivables
Short-term accounts receivable are stated at nominal -value less allowance for doubtful accounts. The amount of the allowance is the differen
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. It is
assessed based on maturity structure and identifiable solvency risks.
2.8 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of purchase / manufacturing cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined -using the
weighted average method. Manufacturing cost includes direct labor and material as well as a commen-surate share of related overhead cost. Allowances are made for obsolete and slow-moving items. Cash discounts from suppliers are treated as
purchase cost reductions.
2.9 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent costs are included in the
d as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during
the financial period in which they are -incurred.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives:
Buildings

20 50 years

Machinery, equipment, installations and tools

4 15 years

Other tangible fixed assets

3 15 years
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Land is not depreciated. Where an asset comprises various components having different useful lives, each component is
depreciated separately.
Items of minor value are charged directly to the income statement.
All gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are recognized in the income statement.
2.10 Intangible assets
Intangible assets embodying future economic benefits, such as acquired licenses, patents and similar rights as well as qualifying development costs are capitalized at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 2 5 years.
Goodwill represents the excess of the con-sideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition date book value
the identifiable net assets acquired. The positive or negative goodwill resulting from acquisitions is offset in equity at the
date of acquisition against retained earnings.
If the purchase price contains elements that are dependent on future results, they are estimated as closely as possible at
the date of acquisition and recognized in the balance sheet. In the event of disparities when the definitive purchase price is
settled, the goodwill offset in equity is adjusted accordingly. The consequences of a theoretical capitalization and amortization of goodwill are explained in note 15.
On the disposal of an entity, the goodwill previously offset in equity is transferred to the income statement.
All research costs are recognized in the income statement as incurred. Development costs are recognized as an asset when
specific recognition criteria are met and the amount recognized is assessed to be recoverable through future economic benefits.
2.11 Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, goodwill offset against -equity, intangible assets and other non-current assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
For the purpose of testing impairment, goodwill, and other assets are grouped in cash-generating units for which cash flows
are separately identifiable. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of those cash-generating units, which generally
represent their value in use. Value in use is assessed using the discounted cash flow method. The -estimates used in these
calculations are based on updated budgets and medium-term plans covering a period of three years. Cash flows beyond
the projection period are extrapolated in perpetuity.
When the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized separately in the income
statement. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use.
As goodwill is fully offset against equity at the date of acquisition, an impairment of goodwill will not affect -income, but
only be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
2.12 Leases
Assets acquired under leasing agreements which effectively transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership from the lessor to the lessee are classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are recorded at the
lower of the estimated net present value of the future minimum lease payments and their fair value at the inception of the
lease. The estimated net present value of the future minimum lease payments is recorded correspondingly as a finance
lease obligation. Assets under finance leases are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Operating lease payments are
charged to income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
2.13 Net sales and revenue recognition
Net sales include all sales of goods and related services, after deduction of any sales reductions including rebates, discounts,
value-added taxes and commissions.
Sales from supplied goods and services are recognized upon performance. Sales of goods are recognized when dormakaba
Group has delivered the products to the -customer, the customer has accepted the products, and it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity.
Sales from long-term construction contracts are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the propor-tion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total costs for the contract.
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2.14 Retirement benefits
There are various pension plans in existence within the Group which are individually aligned with local conditions in their respective countries. They are financed either by means of contributions to legally independent pension / insurance funds, or
by recognition as liabilities in the -balance sheet of the respective Group companies. An -economical obligation or a benefit from Swiss pension schemes is determined from the statements made on the basis of Swi
of Pension
The provision for pension plans of foreign subsidiaries which are not organized as independent legal entity is -determined
based on the local valuation methods in effect.
2.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognized
when the Group has a present obligation (legal or -constructive) as a result of a past event;

when it is probable that a use of resources will be -required to settle the obligation; and

when the amount of the obligation can be reliably -estimated.

Costs relating to restructuring plans or agreements, -including the reduction of excess staffing, the discontinuation of certain activities or the streamlining of facilities and operations and other restructuring measures, are -recorded in the period
in which the Group commits itself to a plan.
2.16 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are initially recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds of disposal (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the -effective interest
method.
2.17 Income taxes
Current income taxes are based on taxable income for the current year and charged to income when incurred. Deferred income taxes are determined using the liability method, with the applicable substantially enacted income tax rates applied on
a comprehensive basis to eligible temporary -differences. Deferred income tax assets from temporary differences are only
recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred income taxes resulting from tax loss carryforwards applicable to future taxable income are
only recognized if they reduce deferred tax liabilities.
2.18 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the -reporting period. Diluted earnings per share also include all potentially dilutive effects.
2.19 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes of balance sheet items are valued at the same valuation principles as
the underlying hedged positions.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments for cash flow hedging purposes is disclosed in the notes.
2.20 Risk assessment and risk management
The tasks of the Board of Directors include identifying risks, determining suitable measures and implementing these
measures or having them implemented. The Board of Directors of dormakaba Holding AG conducted a Group-wide risk
assessment in the year under review and also determined the risks to be managed at particular management levels. The
Board of Directors is closely involved in assessing strategic risks and through dialogue with the Executive Committee ensures
that operating risks are given due attention and reported accordingly. This -approach gives the Board a comprehensive
overview of the key risks and measures. With this overview, the Group is able to prioritize and allocate the necessary resources.
Financial risk policy
The dormakaba Group is exposed to various risks in connection with financial instruments, in particular to market risks of
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The Management monitors these risks on a regular basis. In managing the exposure resulting from such fluctuations, the dormakaba Group uses derivative financial instruments wherever
Management deems it appropriate to do so given the prevailing circumstances. The counterparties involved are high-ranking
financial institutions. The dormakaba Group does not enter into financial transactions if the associated risk cannot be estimated, for example no uncovered short transactions are executed. Hedging transactions always relate to existing assets
and liabilities or to highly probable future business transactions.
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In addition, the dormakaba Group is exposed to liquidity risk and credit risk. Risk management also involves securing comprehensive and efficient insurance protection.
Foreign exchange risk
The dormakaba Group is active all over the world and is therefore exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Foreign exchange risks arise when future commercial transactions, recognized financial assets and liabilities, and net investments in foreign operations are denominated
In most companies of the dormakaba Group expenditures and earnings occur mainly in the local currencies of these companies and changes in foreign exchange rates affect only the net payment flow. Future cash flows in -foreign currencies are
hedged in limited cases only.
Foreign exchange risks on intercompany loans are covered to a large extent by forward exchange contracts.
The dormakaba Group does not actively manage the translation risk arising from net investment in foreign -currencies and
from net income generated by foreign operations.
Interest rate risk
hedged in
limited cases. The Management strives for a well-balanced mix of long- and short-term interest rates considering the
planned financing requirements. Financing and related interest are managed centrally. Cash and cash equivalents are invested on a short-term basis.
Liquidity risk
The liquidity risk is the risk that the dormakaba Group will be unable to meet its obligations when they fall due. The Group
ns at any time to meet
its obligations and to finance its projects. Procurement of bank loans is managed centrally.
Credit risk
Credit risks arise from the possibility that the counterparty to a transaction is unable or unwilling to fulfill its obligations and
that the dormakaba Group suffers financial damage as a result.
Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis -locally and via Group management reporting procedures. The danger
of cluster risks on trade accounts receivable is limited due to the large number and wide geographical spread of customers.
The extent of the credit risk is de-termined mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Assessment of this
risk involves a review of the
inancial situation and past experience.
Cash and cash equivalents are mainly held in the form of current accounts and current fixed-term deposits. Counterparty
risks are monitored continuously and minimized by strictly limiting the associations to high-ranking banks.
2.21 Segment reporting
In accordance with the Management organization and the reporting to the top management level, the reporting segments
consist of the businesses as described in note 1. This reporting forms the basis for assessing performance and allocating resources.
Segment accounting is prepared up to the level of EBITDA / EBIT because this is the key figure used for management purposes. All operating assets and liabilities that are directly attributable or can be allocated on a reasonable basis are reported in the respective segments. With the exception of central costs, which are not allocated to the individual segments for
internal reporting purposes, the segment results are based on the same accounting principles that are used to determine the
operating profit of the Group.
length principle.
2.22 Share-based payments
Stock award plans
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for shares is measured at fair value of the shares at the grant
date and recognized as an expense with a corresponding entry in equity. Expenses for shares that vest imme-diately are recognized accordingly. Shares that are subject to future services are recognized over the vesting period.
2.23 Extraordinary result
The extraordinary result includes only cost related to the business combination between Dorma and Kaba, namely restructuring cost, impairment losses, and the cost of combining the brands into the dormakaba master brand. Restructuring
cost are those necessarily entailed by the -restructuring, and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity, such
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as severance cost, early termination cost, and restructuring-related advisory cost. Business combination-related projects have
been approved by the Board.

3. Shares

For basic number of shares
Number of shares outstanding at beginning of financial year

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Par value
CHF 0.10

Par value
CHF 0.10

4,184,261

3,798,121

New shares issued
Own shares (acquired) re-issued

380,000
6,702

6,140

Number of shares outstanding at end of financial year

4,190,963

4,184,261

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)

4,188,772

3,836,323

Profit applicable for calculation of earnings per share (basic and diluted)
(in CHF million)

53.9

98.4

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)

12.9

25.6

4,188,772

3,836,323

12,044

12,464

4,200,816

3,848,787

Profit applicable for calculation of earnings per share (basic and diluted)
(in CHF million)

53.9

98.4

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF)

12.8

25.6

Dividend (proposal for 2015 / 2016, in the form of a distribution of tax-privileged capital reserves)
per share (in CHF)

12.0

12.0

429,384

429,384

Conditional shares at end of financial year

429,384

429,384

Authorized shares

419,000

380,000

Number of shares authorized but not yet issued

419,000

For diluted number of shares
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)
Eligible shares under stock award plans and shares awarded in acquisitions
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (diluted)

Conditional shares at beginning of financial year
New conditional shares created
New conditional shares issued

Number of own shares held

4,063

10,765

Earnings per share is calculated based on profit attributable to the owners of the parent only. Net profit attributable to minority interests is not taken into account. Minority shareholders hold 47.5 % of the shares of dormakaba Holding GmbH +
Co. KGaA, which is a direct subsidiary of the Group parent dormakaba Holding AG, which holds the remaining 52.5 %.
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4. Business combinations
Business combination with Dorma
On 1 September 2015, Dorma and Kaba completed the business combination announced in April 2015. The following table
summarizes the transaction. The identifiable assets and liabilities reflect the fair value at the date of the business combination. The value of the Kaba businesses was calculated based on the average price of the Kaba share at the SIX Swiss Stock
Exchange during the last five trading days before closing of the transaction.
in CHF million

As at the
acquisition date

Consideration at 1 September 2015
Cash paid

0.6

Acquisition-related costs

6.9

Total cash outflow

7.5

Fair value of Kaba business transferred

1,158.8

Total consideration

1,166.3

Identifiable assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents

73.0

Trade receivables

205.1

Inventories

191.5

Current income tax assets

40.0

Other current assets

44.4

Property, plant and equipment

168.4

Intangible assets

12.4

Investments in associates

32.3

Non-current financial assets

21.8

Deferred income tax assets

49.5

Current borrowings

3.3

Trade payables

60.3

Current income tax liabilities

42.9

Accrued and other current liabilities

124.3

Provisions

25.0

Non-current borrowings
Accrued pension costs and benefits

1.0
226.1

Deferred income tax liabilities

4.6

Other non-interest bearing liabilities

0.3

Total identifiable net assets

350.6
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Minority interests on net assets

166.5

Goodwill

982.2

Total consideration

1,166.3

The Group has yet to finalize the valuation of the net identifiable assets acquired. Adjustments of the fair value and the purchase price may be required.
Additional acquisition-related cash payments
CHF 1.0 million were paid for Shenzhen Probuck Tech-nologies Co. Ltd. (acquired on 28 October 2013) and CHF 0.1 million
were paid for Flexon Llaves S.A. (acquired on 28 February 2013).
Total acquisition-related cash payments were CHF 8.5 million.
Prior-year acquisitions
Dorsët Kaba (India)
On 31 July 2014, Kaba increased its 49 % stake (held since 2007) in a joint venture with Dorsët Group to 74 % by -acquiring
another 25 % of the shares. As part of the transaction, Dorsët Kaba took over from Dorsët Group the businesses of Mars
Industries Pvt Ltd., Dorsët India Pvt Ltd., and Modtech Industries. This gave Kaba three production sites and four regional
offices in India serving a broad -distribution network. This direct access to the Indian market will boost sales in this promising
growing market. Dorsët Kaba employs around 1,000 people and achieves annual sales of CHF 22 million. The following
table summarizes the consideration paid for Dorsët and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date.

in CHF million

As at the
acquisition date

Consideration at 31 July 2014
Cash paid
Acquisition-related costs
Total cash outflow

30.0
0.2
30.2

Existing share in associate

3.2

Kaba shares awarded with the transaction

1.1

Total consideration

34.5

Identifiable assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents

1.5

Trade receivables

4.3

Inventories

4.4

Other current assets

0.5

Property, plant and equipment

2.2

Current borrowings

0.5

Trade payables

4.8

Current income tax liabilities

0.3

Accrued and other current liabilities

0.9
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Non-current borrowings

0.1

Accrued pension costs and benefits

0.2

Total identifiable net assets

6.1

Minority interests

1.5

Goodwill

29.9

Total consideration

34.5

Keyscan Inc. (Canada)
On 3 November 2014, Kaba acquired the Canadian company Keyscan Inc., a recognized specialist in networked access control
solutions. Kaba strengthened with this acquisition its product offering in North America. Besides stand-alone and wireless
access control systems, Kaba now also offers networked solutions. The acquisition of Keyscan allows Kaba to provide comprehensive electronic access control solutions for the commercial sector.
The acquisition of Keyscan Inc. also provides Kaba with access to a large established network of integrators and security
dealers. Kaba plans to make Keyscan products available in various emerging markets within the Americas, too.
Keyscan Inc. is based in Whitby (Ontario / Canada). It has about 65 employees and generates sales of about CHF 18 million (2014).
The following table summarizes the consideration paid for Keyscan and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed recognized at the acquisition date.

in CHF million

As at the
acquisition date

Consideration at 3 November 2014
Cash paid
Acquisition-related costs
Total cash outflow
Kaba shares awarded with the transaction
Total consideration

39.2
0.4
39.6
0.1
39.7

Identifiable assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents

1.2

Trade receivables

2.8

Inventories

2.1

Other current assets

0.2

Property, plant and equipment

0.2

Current borrowings

0.0

Trade payables

0.5

Current income tax liabilities

0.2

Accrued and other current liabilities

2.0
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Non-current borrowings

0.1

Other non-interest bearing liabilities

1.4

Total identifiable net assets

2.3

Goodwill

37.4

Total consideration

39.7

Advanced Diagnostics Ltd. of Nuneaton (UK)
On 7 November 2014, Kaba Group acquired Advanced -Diagnostics Ltd. of Nuneaton (UK) and its related company Advanced
Diagnostics USA Inc., based in Las Vegas (USA). The companies specialize in developing programming equipment for the
automotive industry. The equipment is used to program transponder-based replacement keys.
Advanced Diagnostics generates annual sales of around CHF 10 million with 24 employees.
The following table summarizes the consideration paid for Advanced Diagnostics and the amounts of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date.

in CHF million

As at the
acquisition date

Consideration at 7 November 2014
Cash paid
Acquisition-related costs
Total cash outflow
Kaba shares awarded with the transaction
Total consideration

32.4
0.5
32.9
1.2
34.1

Identifiable assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents

3.0

Trade receivables

1.7

Inventories

0.5

Other current assets

0.1

Property, plant and equipment

0.3

Trade payables

0.4

Current income tax liabilities

0.2

Accrued and other current liabilities

2.0

Other non-interest bearing liabilities

0.6

Total identifiable net assets

2.4

Goodwill

31.7

Total consideration

34.1
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5. Net sales

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

2,115.9

1,085.2

Amounts included in net sales based on the percentage-of-completion method

73.3

83.6

Cumulative progress invoices on contracts in progress

21.8

26.3

Construction contracts in progress (assets)

9.9

14.0

Billings in excess of cost of construction contracts (liabilities see note 19)

0.6

0.4

Accumulated contract costs including recognized profits (losses)

31.1

39.9

Advances for construction contracts (liabilities)

4.0

5.6

Retentions on construction contracts in progress (assets)

0.1

0.0

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Rent

0.7

1.0

Gain from the sale of fixed assets / business units

5.3

0.2

Re-invoiced cost

0.8

0.6

Licence income

0.7

1.1

Insurance reclaim

0.6

0.3

Other revenues

7.0

3.7

Other operating expense

0.3

0.8

14.8

6.1

in CHF million

Total net sales

Additional information for long-term contracts applying the percentage-of-completion method

6. Other operating income, net

in CHF million

Total other operating income (net)
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7. Personnel expenses

in CHF million

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

in %

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Salaries and wages

639.1

325.4

Social security expenses

120.8

60.1

Share-based payments

4.9

3.2

20.6

15.7

Employment termination expenses

6.3

1.0

Other benefits

0.9

0.6

792.6

406.0

Employees at balance sheet date

15,786

8,948

Average number of full-time equivalent employees

15,779

8,948

Pension cost (note 21)

Total personnel expenses

in %

Average number of employees per geographic region
Switzerland

799

5

687

8

Germany

3,523

22

779

9

Rest of EMEA

3,457

22

1,564

17

Americas

2,813

18

1,826

20

Asia Pacific

5,187

33

4,092

46

15,779

100

8,948

100

Total

8. Financial expenses

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Interest expenses

9.7

6.1

Foreign exchange losses / (gains)

6.6

1.2

Other financial expenses

2.8

0.6

Total financial expenses

19.1

7.9

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Interest income

1.5

0.4

Other financial income

2.4

0.2

Total financial income

3.9

0.6

in CHF million

9. Financial income

in CHF million
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10. Income taxes

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

159.5

137.7

28.0 %

29.6 %

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate

44.7

40.8

Current income taxes

67.3

37.9

Deferred income taxes

12.5

0.9

Income taxes

54.8

38.8

Difference between applicable and effective income taxes

10.1

2.0

Impact of losses and tax loss carryforwards

5.3

1.3

Tax-exempt income

4.8

3.0

Non-deductible expenses

7.1

2.5

Non-recoverable withholding tax expenses

0.2

0.6

Tax charges (credits) relating to prior periods, net

0.8

0.0

1.5

0.8

10.1

2.0

1.5

1.1

in CHF million

Profit before taxes
Weighted applicable tax rate

Other
Difference between expected and effective income taxes
Income taxes charged to equity

The weighted applicable tax rate is calculated using the -expected income tax rates of the individual Group companies in each
jurisdiction. These rates vary significantly. The change in the weighted applicable tax rate from prior year is mainly due to
the different contributions of individual Group companies to the total Group profit.
The main difference between applicable and effective taxes in the period lies in the fact that dormakaba does not recognize
deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards -regardless of the likelihood that such tax loss carry forwards can be utilized in
the future. The major part of these tax losses occurred as a result of post-merger -integration projects.
11. Trade receivables

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

421.7

177.0

Accounts receivable from associates

0.1

0.0

Construction contracts in progress

9.9

14.0

431.7

191.0

28.0

5.6

403.7

185.4

in CHF million

Accounts receivable from third parties

Total trade receivables, gross
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Total trade receivables, net
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Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Maturity analysis of trade receivables

Gross

Gross

Not yet due

303.4

145.5

1

30 day(s) overdue

52.7

25.8

31

60 days overdue

18.0

7.6

61

90 days overdue

9.3

3.3

91

120 days overdue

6.1

1.4

3.9

1.5

38.3

5.9

431.7

191.0

121

150 days overdue

More than 150 days overdue
Total trade receivables, gross

The creditworthiness of not yet due and not impaired -accounts receivable is considered good, based on the low losses in the
past.

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Allowance at beginning of financial year

5.6

5.8

Additions

3.8

1.7

Releases

2.0

0.7

Usage

2.7

0.7

23.0

0.4

0.3

0.8

28.0

5.6

Details of allowance for doubtful accounts

Acquisition of businesses
Translation exchange differences
Allowance at end of financial year

Accounts receivable are individually considered to be impaired in case of clear evidence of insolvency or other indications
that collectability is severely endangered. In addition, allowances are made on a systematic basis based on overdue ageing.
The Group does not hold material collateral as security for trade receivables.
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12. Inventories

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

160.8

85.0

76.4

46.2

175.6

73.4

2.3

0.6

415.1

205.2

51.1

29.4

364.0

175.8

29.4

31.0

9.2

2.5

19.5

0.9

Releases

1.9

0.3

Usage

5.9

2.3

Translation exchange differences

0.8

2.4

Allowance end of year

51.1

29.4

in CHF million

Raw materials and supplies
Semi-finished goods and work in progress
Finished goods
Prepayments to suppliers
Total inventories, gross
Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items
Total inventories, net

Details allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items
Allowance beginning of year
Additions
Acquisition of businesses

Allowances for inventories are made in cases of incongruity between inventory levels and expected consumption on an itemby-item basis. These allowances are released if and as soon as the requested consumption is reached.
13. Other current assets

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

15.0

10.8

1.3

0.4

26.3

10.2

Fair value of forward contracts (see note 26)

2.6

0.0

Other receivables and miscellaneous

2.2

0.9

47.4

22.3

in CHF million

Prepaid expenses
Retentions
Sales, withholding and other recoverable taxes

Total other current assets
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14. Property, plant and equipment / Intangible assets

Land and
buildings

Plant,
machinery
and equipment

Furniture
and fixtures

Prepayments

Total property,
plant and
equipment

Intangible
assets

155.8

187.0

85.9

10.3

439.0

48.1

Additions

2.5

10.3

7.2

6.8

26.8

12.0

Disposals

0.1

4.6

5.6

0.0

10.3

1.3

Reclassifications

2.4

8.6

2.0

9.0

0.0

0.0

Acquisition of businesses

0.2

1.6

0.7

0.0

2.5

0.3

Translation exchange differences

6.2

10.9

8.4

0.5

26.0

5.0

154.6

192.0

77.8

7.6

432.0

54.1

71.7

145.9

64.6

0.0

282.2

29.2

Additions

4.7

10.1

7.4

0.0

22.2

3.0

Disposals

0.1

4.3

5.6

0.0

10.0

1.3

Reclassifications

1.4

0.0

1.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2.5

8.6

6.2

0.0

17.4

2.8

75.2

143.1

58.8

0.0

277.0

28.1

30 June 2014 net

84.1

41.1

21.3

10.3

156.8

18.9

30 June 2015 net

79.4

48.9

19.0

7.6

155.0

26.0

in CHF million

Cost
30 June 2014

30 June 2015

Accumulated depreciation
30 June 2014

Acquisition of businesses
Translation exchange differences
30 June 2015
Net book value as of

Net carrying amount of assets under finance leases as of
30 June 2014 net

0.2

0.2

0.0

30 June 2015 net

0.3

0.3

0.0

Cost
30 June 2015

154.6

192.0

77.8

7.6

432.0

54.1

Additions

3.5

14.5

15.7

13.4

47.1

14.7

Disposals

2.5

14.2

11.9

0.5

29.1

6.5

Reclassifications

2.0

9.8

1.7

13.5

0.0

0.0

97.0

33.4

30.1

7.9

168.4

12.4

Acquisition of businesses
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5.7

5.8

2.6

0.3

14.4

1.8

260.3

241.3

116.0

15.2

632.8

76.5

75.2

143.1

58.8

0.0

277.0

28.1

Additions 1)

6.8

21.1

14.6

0.0

42.5

15.9

Disposals

1.2

13.6

9.4

0.0

24.2

6.5

Reclassifications

0.4

0.2

0.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

Acquisition of businesses

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

1.2

4.2

2.1

0.0

7.5

1.3

82.4

155.0

65.5

0.0

302.8

38.8

30 June 2015 net

79.4

48.9

19.0

7.6

155.0

26.0

30 June 2016 net

177.9

86.3

50.5

15.2

330.0

37.7

30 June 2016

Accumulated depreciation
30 June 2015

Translation exchange differences
30 June 2016
Net book value as of

Net carrying amount of assets under finance leases as of
30 June 2015 net

0.3

0.3

0.0

30 June 2016 net

1.3

1.3

0.0

1) Additions include impairments of intangible assets CHF 8.1 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment CHF 0.6 million.

Intangible assets: additions to cost include CHF 7.7 million (2014 / 2015 CHF 6.6 million) invested in research and development projects.
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15. Theoretical movement goodwill

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Opening

175.0

90.7

Additions from acquisitions

982.2

99.0

4.0

14.7

1,153.2

175.0

Opening

59.8

33.9

Additions

196.3

31.7

0.9

5.8

255.2

59.8

Opening

115.2

56.8

Closing

898.0

115.2

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

261.6

145.0

EBIT in % of net sales

12.3

13.3

Amortization goodwill

196.3

31.7

65.3

113.3

3.1

10.4

Net profit

104.7

98.9

Amortization goodwill

196.3

31.7

91.6

67.2

in CHF million

Cost

Translation exchange differences
Closing

Accumulated amortization

Translation exchange differences
Closing

Theoretical book values, net

Effect income statement

in CHF million

Operating profit (EBIT)

Theoretical operating profit (EBIT) incl. amortization goodwill
Theoretical EBIT in % of net sales

Theoretical net loss / profit incl. amortization goodwill
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Effect balance sheet

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Equity according to balance sheet

680.5

442.1

Theoretical capitalization net book value goodwill

898.0

115.2

1,578.5

557.3

Equity in % of balance sheet total

43.2

60.2

Theoretical equity incl. net book value goodwill in % of balance sheet total

63.7

65.6

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Beginning of year

0.0

0.0

Acquisition of Dorma associate Iseo Serrature s.p.a.

32.3

0.0

Dividends received

1.1

0.0

Share of profit / (loss)

2.5

0.0

Translation exchange differences

0.3

0.0

Total investments in associates

33.9

0.0

Assets

171.4

0.0

Liabilities

111.9

0.0

Revenues

142.7

0.0

Profit / (Loss)

6.1

0.0

Interest held in %

40

0.0

11.0

0.0

in CHF million

Theoretical equity incl. net book value goodwill

16. Investments in associates and joint ventures

in CHF million

Associates

Details of investments in associates

Entity name
Iseo Serrature s.p.a., Via San Girolamo 13, I-25055 Pisogne (BS)

Goodwill included in investments in associates
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17. Non-current financial assets

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

0.1

0.1

22.7

4.4

Long-term prepaid expenses

8.6

7.0

Prepaid financing cost

0.0

1.0

5.1

2.4

36.5

14.9

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Bank overdrafts

9.1

10.7

Short-term bank loans

6.6

2.5

Current portion of debt

36.9

6.5

Total current borrowings

52.6

19.7

in CHF million

Non-current financial assets
Loans
Pension-related assets

Long-term held securities
Total non-current financial assets

18. Borrowings

in CHF million

Current borrowings

Bank overdrafts and short-term bank loans are repayable within one year and are subject to financial debt covenants. The
short-term borrowings are fixed for a period of one to three months and the interest rates are based on LIBOR / EURIBOR. The carrying amounts of short-term financial borrowings approximate their fair value.

Non-current borrowings
Bank loans

0.1

0.9

Other long-term liabilities

0.2

0.4

Finance lease obligation

1.2

0.3

Total non-current borrowings

1.5

1.6
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At year-end, maturities of debt were as follows:
Within 1 year

36.9

6.5

1.5

1.6

0.0

0.0

Total debt

38.4

8.1

Current portion of debt

36.9

6.5

1.5

1.6

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

23.7

13.4

0.6

0.4

Deferred income

40.1

22.3

Sales, withholding and other tax payable

36.5

12.6

9.1

6.0

0.8

0.8

93.6

43.9

Accrued interest

0.1

0.0

Fair value of forward contracts (see note 26)

5.4

1.1

80.3

37.3

290.2

137.8

Within 2 to 5 years
After 5 years

Total long-term debt

19. Accrued and other current liabilities

in CHF million

Advances from customers
Billings in excess of cost of construction contracts

Social security payable
Payable to pension fund
Accruals for vacation, overtime and other employee benefits

Other accruals and current non-interest-bearing liabilities
Total accrued and other current liabilities
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20. Provisions

Warranty and
customer returns

Restructuring

Other

Total

Opening balance as at 01.07.2014

9.6

2.5

2.9

15.0

Additions

1.5

0.8

1.4

3.7

Releases

3.1

0.6

0.3

4.0

Usage

1.5

2.2

0.8

4.5

Acquisition of businesses

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Translation exchange differences

0.0

0.0

0.6

0.6

Balance at 30.06.2015

6.5

0.5

2.6

9.6

Thereof due within 1 year

6.5

0.5

2.6

9.6

Thereof due 2 to 5 years

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Total

6.5

0.5

2.6

9.6

Opening balance as at 01.07.2015

6.5

0.5

2.6

9.6

Additions

7.8

81.3

0.6

89.7

Releases

0.5

0.4

1.7

2.6

Usage

6.3

25.3

2.1

33.7

Acquisition of businesses

7.1

1.4

16.5

25.0

Translation exchange differences

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.6

Balance at 30.06.2016

14.9

57.6

16.1

88.6

Thereof due within 1 year

14.9

57.6

16.1

88.6

Thereof due 2 to 5 years

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Total

14.9

57.6

16.1

88.6

in CHF million

Financial year ended 30.06.2015

Financial year ended 30.06.2016

Warranty and customer return provisions
In certain markets there are lock models installed for which dormakaba developed upgrades. dormakaba committed to offer
the upgrades at no cost to its customers and as a result a provision amounting to CHF 15.1 million was recognized as per 30
June 2011. Due to customers making
CHF 1.7 million as per 30
June 2016, representing expected cash outflows in 2016 / 2017 related to this initiative.
Restructuring provisions
Restructuring provisions include expected future cash outflows related to restructuring plans that the Group has started to
implement or announced. Restructuring plans mainly focus on optimizing administrative and manufac-turing processes.
The major part of these restructuring provisions is due to post-merger integration projects following the merger -between
Kaba and Dorma as per 1 September 2015 which have been approved by the Board. These provisions mainly include severance cost, early termination cost, and restructuring related advisory cost (as per accounting policy 2.23).
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Other provisions

Pension benefit expenses
within personnel expenses

Financial
year ended
30.06.2015

Pension benefit expenses
within personnel expenses

Pension institutions
with surplus

Financial
year ended
30.06.2016

Contributions concerning
the business period

Change to prior year period or recognized in the
current result of
the period, respectively

Translation differences

Acquisition of businesses
Economical part
of the Corporation

Financial
year ended
30.06.2015

Economical part
of the Corporation

in CHF million

Financial
year ended
30.06.2016

Economical part
of the Corporation

21. Employee benefit liabilities

7.6

7.5

7.2

9.1

9.1

6.8

4.0

1.7

20.6

15.7

Pension institutions
with deficit
Pension institutions
w / o surplus / deficit
Pension institutions
without own assets
Other long-term
employee benefits
Total

256.8

34.8

214.0

18.2

3.9

12.1

275.0

38.7

226.1

4.3

3.7

0.3

4.3

3.7

17.0

1)

1) Net of interest expenses CHF 6.2 million related to recognized pension liabilities on the balance sheet.

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Contributions to pension institutions from group entities

16.6

14.0

Contributions to pension institutions from employer contribution reserves (ECR)

0.0

0.0

Total contributions

16.6

14.0

+ / - Changes ECR from asset development, value adjustments, etc.

0.0

0.0

Contributions and changes employer contribution reserves

16.6

14.0

Increase / decrease economical benefit group from surplus

0.0

0.0

Decrease / increase economical obligation group from deficit

0.0

0.0

Decrease / increase economical obligation group from pension institutions without own assets

4.0

1.7

Total changes economical effects from surplus / deficit

4.0

1.7

20.6

15.7

in CHF million

Pension benefit expenses within personnel expenses in the period under review
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22. Lease commitments

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

33.4

15.1

Liabilities under leases up to 1 year

36.6

14.9

Liabilities under leases 2 to 5 years

43.6

30.9

Liabilities under leases over 5 years

17.2

13.6

Total future payment commitments for operating leases

97.4

59.4

in CHF million

Operating leases
Expenses for operating leases amounted to
Future minimum lease payments resulting from non-cancellable operating lease contracts
are due as follows:

Operating lease commitments mainly refer to the lease of buildings which are used for operational purposes.

Finance leases
Expenses for finance leases amounted to

1.3

0.3

Liabilities under leases up to 1 year

0.5

0.0

Liabilities under leases 2 to 5 years

0.7

0.3

Liabilities under leases over 5 years

0.0

0.0

1.3

0.3

Less current portion

0.5

0.0

Long-term finance lease obligation

0.8

0.3

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

5.9

6.5

10.4

4.2

2.7

8.6

No expiry

170.0

135.3

Balance of tax loss carryforwards at end of financial year

188.9

154.6

Future minimum lease payments resulting from non-cancellable finance lease contracts
are due as follows:

Total finance lease obligation including current portion (net present value)

23. Deferred income taxes

in CHF million

Expiration of tax loss carryforwards not recognized as deferred tax assets
Expiry in 1 year
Expiry in 2 to 5 years
Expiry after 5 years
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Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Deferred income tax assets

71.5

6.1

Deferred income tax liabilities

22.9

13.3

Total deferred income taxes, net

48.6

7.2

in CHF million

Balance sheet presentation of deferred income taxes

Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the asset can be utilized.
24. Capital management
Management of capital is governed by the following objectives:





securing
to fulfil its financial obligations;
securing sufficient financing capacity for future investments and acquisitions;
ensuring creditworthiness;
achieving a risk-adequate return for investors.

Continuous monitoring and reporting of key figures to the Management ensure that appropriate action is taken as soon as
required.
A syndicated credit facility of CHF 500 million was secured in March 2016 for a five-year period. The facility has options for 2
ongation and CHF 200 million increase. The only financial covenant is the net debt ratio (calculated as the ratio of
net debt to EBITDA).
As of 30 June 2016 dormakaba complied with all financial covenants.
The corresponding key figures as at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 respectively are shown below:

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

311.4

170.2

Net debt

159.1

121.2

0.5

0.7

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)

12.9

25.6

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF)

12.8

25.6

in CHF million, except where indicated

Gearing

Net debt / EBITDA (Gearing)

Earnings per share

A portion of profits generated is paid out to the owners as dividends, taking into account the current financing needs and
compliance with legal requirements.
dormakaba envisages a dividend policy whereby the minimum payout ratio should be at 50 % of consolidated net profit
after minority interests.
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital restrictions.
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25. Commitments and contingencies

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

2.7

1.3

Property, plant and equipment

9.8

3.9

Intangible assets

0.0

1.4

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

515.1

385.8

2.8

1.1

in CHF million

Current endorsement liabilities
Investments committed to purchase from third parties:

26. Derivative financial instruments

in CHF million

The following forward contracts existed for hedging purposes on the balance sheet date:
Currencies
Contract value
Fair value

held-for-trading, net

dormakaba - Group Management Report and Financial Statements Group, Financial Year 2015/2016

63

27. Segment reporting

Access Solutions
AMER

Access Solutions
APAC

Access Solutions
DACH

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

446.8

247.2

320.1

129.1

467.4

270.2

31.2

19.8

18.0

15.8

245.1

18.5

Total sales

478.0

267.0

338.1

144.9

712.4

288.8

Operating profit before depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA)

105.3

78.5

30.9

3.4

129.8

45.6

22.0 %

29.4 %

9.1 %

2.3 %

18.2 %

15.8 %

99.7

75.9

27.0

0.6

116.4

44.1

20.9 %

28.4 %

8.0 %

0.4 %

16.3 %

15.3 %

Capital expenditure

7.6

4.7

6.4

3.8

14.8

2.5

Depreciation and amortization

5.5

2.7

3.9

2.8

13.4

1.5

in CHF million

Net sales third parties
Intercompany sales

in % of sales
Operating profit (EBIT)
in % of sales
Result from associates
Financial expenses
Financial income
Ordinary result
Extraordinary result
Profit before taxes
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Access Solutions
TOTAL

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Net sales third parties

576.2

218.8

0.0

0.0

1810.5

865.4

Intercompany sales

101.5

96.0

-391.0

-145.4

4.7

4.7

Total sales

in CHF million

677.7

314.8

-391.0

-145.4

1815.2

870.1

Operating profit before depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA)

48.9

38.0

0.0

0.0

314.9

165.5

in % of sales

7.2%

12.1%

0.0%

0.0%

17.3%

19.0%

33.7

27.3

0.0

0.0

276.9

147.9

5.0%

8.7%

0.0%

0.0%

15.3%

17.0%

Capital expenditure

14.2

13.1

0.0

0.0

43.0

24.1

Depreciation and amortization

15.2

10.7

0.0.

0.0

38.0

17.7

Operating profit (EBIT)
in % of sales
Result from associates
Financial expenses
Financial income
Ordinary result
Extraordinary result
Profit before taxes
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Other

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

205.3

207.8

87.1

0.0

13.1

12.0

3.2

1.6

8.5

0.0

1.7

0.7

208.5

209.3

95.6

0.0

14.8

12.7

35.7

35.8

11.2

0.0

0.2

1.8

17.1 %

17.1 %

11.7 %

1.3 %

13.8 %

30.5

30.8

10.2

1.0

1.6

14.6 %

14.7 %

10.6 %

6.8 %

12.2 %

Capital expenditure

8.3

7.7

1.2

0.0

6.4

5.9

Depreciation and amortization

5.2

5.0

1.1

0.0

1.2

0.2

in CHF million

Net sales third parties
Intercompany sales
Total sales
Operating profit before depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA)
in % of sales
Operating profit (EBIT)
in % of sales

0.0

Result from associates
Financial expenses
Financial income
Ordinary result
Extraordinary result
Profit before taxes
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Eliminations

Group

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Financial year
ended
30.06.2016

Financial year
ended
30.06.2015

Net sales third parties

0.0

0.0

-0.1

0.0

2115.9

1085.2

Intercompany sales

0.0

0.0

-18.1

-6.9

0.0

0.0

Total sales

0.0

0.0

-18.2

-6.9

2115.9

1085.2

Operating profit before depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA)

-50.7

-32.9

0.0

0.0

311.4

170.2

in % of sales

0.0 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

14.7 %

15.7 %

Operating profit (EBIT)

-55.0

-35.3

0.0

0.0

261.6

145.0

in % of sales

0.0 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

0.0 %

12.3 %

13.3 %

2.5

0.0

-19.1

-7.9

3.9

0.6

Ordinary result

248.9

137.7

Extraordinary result

-89.4

0.0

Profit before taxes

159.5

137.7

in CHF million

Result from associates
Financial expenses
Financial income

Capital expenditure

2.9

1.0

0.0

0.0

61.8

38.8

Depreciation and amortization

4.3

2.3

0.0

0.0

49.8

25.2
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Reconciliation of assets and liabilities

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

Segment operating assets

1,209.4

575.0

Cash and cash equivalents

213.2

142.5

Current income tax assets

41.4

6.3

4.9

0.5

33.9

0.0

Non-current financial assets

5.0

3.9

Deferred income tax assets

71.5

6.1

1,579.3

734.3

768.2

243.1

Current borrowings

52.6

19.7

Current income tax liabilities

47.9

13.3

Accrued and other current liabilities

5.7

1.2

Non-current borrowings

1.5

1.6

22.9

13.3

898.8

292.2

in CHF million

Other current assets
Investments in associates

Total assets
Segment operating liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities
Total liabilities
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key figures by region

Net sales to
third parties

in %

Non-current
assets

in %

Capital
expenditure

in %

Switzerland

142.2

13

59.1

28

11.9

30

Germany

118.5

11

27.7

14

3.8

10

Rest of EMEA

331.2

31

45.5

23

11.2

29

Americas

356.7

32

53.8

27

7.7

20

Asia Pacific

136.6

13

15.9

8

4.2

11

1,085.2

100

202.0

100

38.8

100

Switzerland

155.8

7

64.7

12

11.4

18

Germany

300.1

14

210.0

42

11.5

19

Rest of EMEA

728.4

35

72.6

14

15.7

25

Americas

583.0

28

99.4

20

11.7

19

Asia Pacific

348.6

16

62.8

12

11.5

19

2,115.9

100

509.6

100

61.8

100

in CHF million

Prior financial year ended 30.06.2015

Total

Financial year ended 30.06.2016

Total

29. Stock award plans
The Executive Stock
in 2007. Under the plan, participants were nominated each year by
the Compensation Committee for an allocation of shares free of charge. Participants could chose to receive the shares unrestricted or subject to a five-ye
the closing price of the
dormakaba Holding AG share at the SIX Swiss Exchange on the business day before the date of allocation.
was introduced. Under the plan, participants were nominated each
year by the Compensation Committee for an
that are automatically subject to a three-year blocking
that at the expiry of the Blocking Period (i) the
participant is still under a contract of employment with a dormakaba Group company and (ii) no notice of termination has
been given by either the employer or employee, the participant shall receive free of
proportion of one additional share for every two Award Shares. The value of the Award Share corresponds
to the closing price of the dormakaba Holding AG share at the SIX Swiss Exchange on the business day before the date of the
allocation.
the same design as ESAP Plus except that under ESAP Plus, existing ESAP 1 participants were entitled to choose -between an allocation
under ESAP 1 or under ESAP Plus. Under ESAP Plus 3, this choice is no longer available.
ESAP 1 and ESAP Plus were discontinued from 2014 / 2015 financial year onwards.
introduced. Under ESAP 5, participants, nominated each year by the
Compensation Committee, are granted Award Shares and Performance Share Units that are subject to a three-year vesting
upon (i) the continuous employment of the participant with a dormakaba Group company at the end of the Vesting Period and (ii) the fulfilment of the Earnings per Share
the Vesting Period, as determined in the ESAP 5 plan rules.
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percentage
of between 0 % and 200 % (0 to 2 Matching Shares for each Performance Share Unit based on the achieved EPS performance).
On 22 September 2014, a total of 3,285 shares were -allocated under ESAP Plus 3 (out of treasury shares) with an award
value of CHF 440.50 each.
On 21 September 2015, a total of 4,088 Award Shares were allocated under ESAP 5 (out of treasury shares) with an award
value of CHF 653.00 each.
On 21 November 2015, a total of 840 Matching Shares were allocated under ESAP Plus with an award value of CHF 664.00
each.
/ 2016 income statement amounts to CHF 2,669,464 for the Award Shares and
CHF 557,760 for the Matching Shares (2014 / 2015 CHF 1,447,043 for Award Shares, no Matching Shares). CHF 6,938.40
(divided into 69,384 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10) of conditional capital is reserved for stock award plans.
30. Related parties

in CHF million

Financial year
ended 30.06.2016

Financial year
ended 30.06.2015

0.6

0.0

1.9

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.0

Transactions with associates
Sales of goods and services
Associates
Purchase of goods and services
Associates
Accounts receivable
Associates
Accounts payable
Associates

31. Events after the reporting period
None.
32. Release of consolidated financial statements for publication
These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 August 2016 and will be
presented for approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders of 18 October 2016.
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Legal structure of the dormakaba Group
as at 30 June 2016
Share capital
in local currency

List of substantial Group and associated companies

Voting
rights in % Participation of...

dormakaba Holding AG, Rümlang / CH

CHF

419,502.60

dormakaba International Holding AG, Rümlang / CH

CHF

101,000.00

Public Quoted Company

ADRS Solutions Limited, Cambridge / GB

GBP

30.00

ADUK Products Ltd., Haslemere / UK

GBP

53.73

Advanced Diagnostics Ltd., Haslemere / UK

GBP

100.00

Aluminium Services Inc., Scituate / US

USD

30,000.00

Aluspec Ltd., Bridgnorth / GB

GBP

1,000.00

100 DORMA UK Ltd.

Ascot Doors Ltd., Hitchin / GB

GBP

21,000.00

100 DORMA UK Ltd.

Auto Entry Pty. Ltd., Hallam / AU

AUD

2.00

Bauer AG, Rümlang / CH

CHF

100,000.00

Computerized Security Systems Inc., Madison Heights / US

USD

16,638.00

Corporación Cerrajera Alba, S.A. de C.V., Edo. de México / MX

MXP

202,059,403.00

Dörken + Mankel Verwaltungs-Gesellschaft
mit beschränkter Haftung, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

30,000.00

DORMA Access Solutions LLC, Doha / QA

QAR

200,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Arabia Automatic Doors Company Ltd., Dammam / SA

SAR

4,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

100 DORMA UK Ltd.
100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd.
100 ADUK Products Ltd.
100 DORMA USA Inc.

100 DORMA Door Controls Pty. Ltd.
100 dormakaba International Holding AG
100 Kaba Corporation
100 Kaba Ilco Inc.
100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Produktion International GmbH
DORMA Australia Pty. Ltd., Hallam / AU

AUD

10,702.00

100 DORMA Door Controls Pty. Ltd.

DORMA Austria GmbH, Eugendorf / AT

EUR

1,460,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Automatic GmbH + Co. KG, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

2,850,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Beschlagtechnik GmbH, Velbert / DE

EUR

5,120,000.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia / BG

EUR

1,314,147.96

DORMA CBP Schweiz AG, Thal / CH

CHF

100,000.00

DORMA China Ltd, Suzhou / CN

CNY

127,759,074.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Colombia S.A.S., Bogota / CO

COP

950,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Croatia d.o.o., Zagreb / HR

HRK

5,650,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Danmark A / S, Rodovre / DK

DKK

596,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
100 DORMA Hüppe Raumtrennsysteme
GmbH + Co. KG

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.
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DORMA Deutschland GmbH, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

126,780,000.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Door Controls Limited, Hong Kong / CN

HKD

100,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Door Controls Ltd., Mississauga / CA

CAD

10.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Door Controls Pty. Ltd., Hallam / AU

AUD

910,700.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Door Systems d.o.o. Beograd, Beograd / RS

RSD

4,474,250.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Dverni Technika CR s.r.o., Praha / CZ

CZK

100,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Far East (Thailand) Ltd., Bangkok / TH

THB

13,490,000.00

DORMA Far East Pte Ltd., Singapore / SH

SGD

500,000.00

100 DORMA Production GmbH + Co. KG

DORMA Far East SDN BHD, Kuala Lumpur / MY

MYR

200,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Finance B.V., Dodewaard / NL

EUR

100,000.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Finland OY, Vantaa / FI

EUR

67,275.17

DORMA Foquin N.V., Bruges / BE

EUR

900,000.00

DORMA France S.A.S., Certeil Cedex / FR

EUR

14,297,080.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Ghana Limited, Accra / GH

GHS

1,850,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Glas Pty. Ltd., Ingleburn / AU

AUD

60.00

DORMA Gulf Door Controls FZE, Dubai / AE

USD

9,524,934.10

DORMA Hüppe Asia Sdn. Bhd., Senai, Johor / MY

MYR

2,510,000.00

100 DORMA Hüppe Raumtrennsysteme
GmbH + Co. KG

DORMA Hüppe Austria GmbH, Linz / AT

EUR

146,000.00

100 DORMA Hüppe Raumtrennsysteme
GmbH + Co. KG

DORMA Hüppe Raumtrennsysteme GmbH + Co. KG,
Westerstede-Ocholt / DE

EUR

48,300,000.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Hüppe Raumtrennsysteme Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Westerstede-Ocholt / DE

EUR

0.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Hüppe S.A., Marquain-lez-Tournai / BE

EUR

3,300,000.00

100 DORMA Hüppe Raumtrennsysteme
GmbH + Co. KG

DORMA Iberica S.A., Madrid / ES

EUR

600,000.00

DORMA India Private Ltd., Chennai / IN

INR

DORMA Ireland Ltd., Dublin / IE

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

100 DORMA Door Controls Pty. Ltd.
100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

808,197,260.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

EUR

1,500,002.54

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Italiana s.r.l., Lissone / IT

EUR

450,000.00

DORMA Kapi Sistemleri Sanayi Ve Ticaret A.S., Istanbul / TR

TRL

3,750,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.
99 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
1 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Kenya Limited, Nairobi / KE

KES

40,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Korea Inc., Seongnam Ciy / KR

KRW

150,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Kuwait for Ready Doors and Windows WLL, Kuwait /
KW

KWD

10,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Magyarország Kft., Budapest / HU

HUF

82,400,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
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DORMA Mexico S. De R.L de C.V., Mexico City / MX

MXN

3,000.00

DORMA Middle East (LLC), Dubai / AE

AED

7,700,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Morocco s.a.r.l., Casablanca / MA

MAD

2,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
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100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Deutschland GmbH
DORMA Movable Wall, Hagen / DE

EUR

25,000.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA Movable Walls Pty. Ltd., Canberra / AU

AUD

374,406.72

100 DORMA Door Controls Pty. Ltd.

DORMA Nederland B.V., Dodewaard / NL

EUR

11,662.00

DORMA Norge A / S, Oslo / NO

NOK

1,754,500.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA NZ Ltd., Auckland / NZ

NZD

384,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Philippines Corp., Makati City / PH

PHP

18,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Polska Sp.z.o.o., Konstancin-Jeziorna / PL

PLN

13,400,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Portugal Sistemas de Controles para Portas LTDA.,
Lisbon / PT

EUR

50,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Production (M) Sdn. Bhd., Melaka / MY

MYR

5,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Production GmbH + Co. Kommanditgesellschaft,
Ennepetal / DE, Singapore / SG

EUR

2,560,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Production GmbH, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

25,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Produktion International GmbH, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

60,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Romania S.R.L., Bucharest / RO

RON

4,705,845.65

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Rus LLC, Moscow / RU

RUB

213,000,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Schweiz AG, St. Gallen / CH

CHF

1,500,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Sistemas de Controles Para Portas LTDA.,
São Paulo / BR

BRR

35,160,684.00

100 DORMA Produktion International GmbH

DORMA Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava / SK

EUR

6,639.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA South Africa (Pty.) Ltd., Southdale / ZA

ZAR

950.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA Sverige AB, Askim / SE

SEK

500,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Time + Access GmbH, Bonn / DE

EUR

500,000.00

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA

DORMA UK Ltd., Hitchin / GB

GBP

250,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

DORMA Ukraine LLC, Kiev / UA

EUR

100,000.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

99 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
1 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Uruguay S.A, Montevideo / UY

UYU

10,800.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

DORMA USA Inc., Reamstown / US

USD

1,000.00

DORMA Vertrieb-International Gesellschaft
mit beschränkter Haftung, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

110,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

DORMA Verwaltungs-GmbH, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

25,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

dorma + kaba Beteiligungs GmbH, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

1,000,000.00

100 DORMA Nederland, B.V.

52.5 dormakaba Holding AG
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dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co. KGaA, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

27,642,105.00

52.5 dormakaba Holding AG
Familie Mankel Industriebeteiligung
47.5 GmbH + Co. KGaA

dorma + kaba International Holding GmbH, Ennepetal / DE

EUR

1,000,000.00

DORMA-Glas GmbH, Bad Salzuflen / DE

EUR

520,000.00

Dorset Kaba Security Systems Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi / IN

INR

DOR-TECH Automation Ltd., Burlington / CA

CAD

100.00

100 DORMA Door Controls Ltd.

Edington Automatic Doors Pty. Ltd., Coorparoo / AU

AUD

12.00

100 DORMA Australia Pty. Ltd.

Farpointe Data Inc., Sunnyvale / US

USD

1,701,734.88

Fermetures GROOM S.A.S., Fougèrès / FR

EUR

1,500,000.00

Forponto Informática S.A., São Paulo / BR

BRL

10,000.00

GLAMÜ Vertrieb von Duschsystemen und Sanitärartikel GmbH,
Heitersheim / DE

EUR

26,250.00

GRAL Beteiligungs-GmbH, Bad Salzuflen / DE

EUR

25,000.00

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

GRAL Dusch- und Bad-Systeme Verwaltungs GmbH,
Bad Salzuflen / DE

EUR

25,564.59

100 DORMA Deutschland GmbH

H. Cillekens & ZN BV, Roermond / NL

EUR

15,882.30

100 Kaba Nederland, B.V.

Horizon Automatic Doors Pty. Ltd., Hallam / AU

AUD

10.00

Iberkaba S.A., Madrid / ES

EUR

841,416.95

ISEO Serrature S.p.A., Pisogne / IT

EUR

23,969,040.00

Kaba (China) Technologies Ltd., Shenzhen / CN

CNY

69,500,000.00

100 Kaba Ltd. (HK)

Kaba AB, Eskilstuna / SE

SEK

13,000,000.00

100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Kaba Access Systems (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai / CN

USD

760,000.00

Kaba AG, Wetzikon / CH

CHF

6,800,000.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Australia Pty Ltd., Moorebank / AU

AUD

37,687,426.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Belgium NV / SA, Turnhout / BE

EUR

1,760,981.10

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Central Services GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen / DE

EUR

3,070,000.00

Kaba Corporation, Rocky Mount / US

USD

201,731,000.00

Kaba Delaware, LLC, Wilmington / US

59,630,770.00

N/A

100 dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
KGaA
100 DORMA Beschlagtechnik GmbH
74 dormakaba International Holding AG

100 DORMA USA Inc.
100 DORMA France S.A.S.
100 Task Sistemas de Computação S.A.
100 provitris GmbH

100 DORMA Australia Pty. Ltd.
100 dormakaba International Holding AG
40 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

100 Kaba Ltd. (HK)

dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
100 KGaA
100 Kaba Finance Corp.
100 Kaba AG

Kaba Denmark A / S, Odense / DK

DKK

600,000.00

100 Kaba Norway A / S

Kaba do Brasil Ltda., São Paulo / BR

BRL

22,514,978.00

Kaba Finance Corp., Wilmington / US

USD

1,400.00

Kaba FZE, Dubai / AE

AED

5,000,000.00

100 Kaba AG

Kaba Gallenschütz GmbH, Bühl / DE

EUR

2,560,000.00

100 Kaba Central Services GmbH

Kaba GmbH, Herzogenburg / AT

EUR

835,737.59

100 Kaba AG
100 Kaba U.S. Holding Ltd.

100 dormakaba International Holding AG
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Kaba GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen / DE

EUR

3,455,000.00

100 Kaba Central Services GmbH

Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd., London / GB

GBP

173,000.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Holding AG, Rümlang / CH

CHF

100,000.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Ilco Corp., Rocky Mount / US

USD

56,897,640.00

Kaba Ilco Inc., Montreal / CA

CAD

1,000.00

Kaba Immobilien GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen / DE

EUR

50,000.00

Kaba Jaya Security Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur / MY

MYR

350,000.00

70 Kaba AG

Kaba Ltd., Hong Kong / HK

HKD

560,250,000.00

100 Kaba AG

Kaba Ltd., Tiverton / GB

GBP

6,300,000.00

Kaba Management AG, Rümlang / CH

CHF

50,000.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Mas LLC, Lexington / US

USD

880,679.00

100 Kaba Corporation

Kaba Mauer GmbH, Heiligenhaus / DE

EUR

819,100.00

100 Unican Holding und Management GmbH

Kaba MøllerUndall A / S, Drammen / NO

NOK

5,670,438.00

Kaba Nederland BV, Nijmegen / NL

EUR

90,756.04

Kaba New Zealand Ltd., Auckland / NZ

NZD

3,365,000.00

100 Kaba AG

Kaba Norway A / S, Drammen / NO

NOK

1,000,000.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Polska Sp. z o. o., Warsaw / PL

PLN

1,000,000.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba S.A.S., Suresnes / FR

EUR

2,249,478.00

100 dormakaba International Holding AG

Kaba Security Equipment (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., Shenzhen / CN

HKD

1,000,000.00

Kaba Security Pte. Ltd., Singapore / SP

SGD

4,397,878.00

100 Kaba AG

Kaba srl, Castel Maggiore / IT

EUR

260,000.00

100 Kaba AG

Kaba U.S. Holding Ltd., Wilmington / US

USD

93,000,000.00

100 Kaba Corporation
100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.
dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
100 KGaA

100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd.

100 Kaba Norway A / S
100 Dorma Nederland, B.V.

100 Path Line (China) Ltd.

97 Kaba Delaware, LLC
3 Kaba AG

Kaba Workforce Solutions, LLC, Wilmington / US

USD

19,712.76

Kaba Zrt., Budapest / HU

HUF

250,000,000.00

Keyscan Inc., Whitby / CA

CAD

533.00

Legic Identsystems AG, Wetzikon / CH

CHF

500,000.00

MAME Türendesign GmbH, Rietberg / DE

EUR

169,350.00

100 DORMA-Glas GmbH

Mauer Thüringen GmbH, Bad Berka / DE

EUR

255,700.00

100 Kaba Mauer GmbH

Minda Silca Engineering Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi / IN

INR

Modernfold Inc., Greenfield Indiana / US

USD

1.00

100 DORMA USA Inc.

Modernfold of Nevada LLC., Las Vegas / US

USD

1.00

100 Modernfold Inc.

107,510,000.00

100 Kaba U.S. Holding Ltd.
100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.
100 Kaba Ilco Inc.
100 Kaba AG

65 dormakaba International Holding AG
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Modus GmbH Montage von Duschsystemen und Sanitärartikeln,
Heitersheim / DE

EUR

26,000.00

Nihon Kaba K.K., Yokohama / JP

JPY

120,000,000.00

Path Line (China) Ltd., Hong Kong / HK

HKD

113,900,000.00

provitris GmbH, Rietberg / DE

EUR

52,000.00

PT. DORMA Far East, South Jakarta / ID

IDR

1,136,300,000.00
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100 provitris GmbH

100 Kaba AG
100 Kaba Ltd. (HK)
dorma + kaba Holding GmbH + Co.
100 KGaA
90 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
10 DORMA Produktion International GmbH

Rafi Shapira & Sons Ltd., Rishon LeZion / IL

ILS

143.00

70 Rafi Shapira
30 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

/ US

USD

54,300.00

CAD

1.00

100 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH

Service National Pty. Ltd., Canberra / AU

AUD

0.00

100 DORMA Door Controls Pty. Ltd.

Silca GmbH, Velbert / DE

EUR

358,000.00

/ CA

100 DORMA USA Inc.

90 Unican Holding und Management GmbH
10 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Silca Key Systems S.A., Barcelona / ES

EUR

162,296.90

100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Silca Ltd., Crawley / GB

GBP

411,050.00

100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd.

Silca S.A.S., Porcheville / FR

EUR

797,670.00

100 Kaba S.A.S.

Silca S.p.A., Vittorio Veneto / IT

EUR

10,000,000.00

97 Unican Luxembourg S.A.
3 Kaba AG

Silca South America S.A., Tocancipa / CO

COP

4,973,013,775.00

64.4 dormakaba International Holding AG
32.5 Kaba AG

Skill s.r.l., Bergamo / IT

EUR

10,000.00

Task Sistemas de Computação S.A., Rio de Janeiro / BR

BRL

26,438,731.00

Unican Holding und Management GmbH, Velbert / DE

EUR

51,200.00

100 DORMA Italiana s.r.l.
100 dormakaba International Holding AG
90 Kaba Central Services GmbH
10 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Unican Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg / LU

EUR

15,191,560.72

Wah Mei (Toishan) Hardware Co., Ltd., Taishan / CN

USD

15,000,000.00

Wah Yuet

USD

13,289,000.00

Wah Yuet Group Holdings Ltd., Tortola / VG

USD

100.00

Wah Yuet Industrial Co. Ltd., Hong Kong / HK

HKD

1,000,000.00

Yantai DORMA Tri-Circle Lock Co. Ltd,
Yantai City / Shandong / CN

CNY

10,000,000.00

Ltd., Tortola / VG

100 dormakaba International Holding AG
100 Path Line (China) Ltd.
100 Kaba Ltd. (HK)
100 dormakaba Holding AG
100 Kaba Ltd. (HK)
60 DORMA Vertrieb-International GmbH
40 Yantai Tri-Circle Intelligent Lock Co. Ltd.

Apart from dorma + kaba Holding AG in Rümlang, there are no companies in the dorma +
The registered shares of dorma + kaba Holding AG are traded on the Swiss Reporting Standard board of the SIX Swiss Exchange (security no. / ISIN: 1179595 / CH 001179595 9;
ISIN: 28214814 /
2,850.5 million.
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dormakaba Holding AG
Hofwisenstrasse 24
8153 Rümlang
Switzerland
www.dormakaba.com
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